Inertial Measurement Unitbased post-surgery knee rehabilitation



ŤUDelft **Y** 2M ENGINEERING



by

José López Hidalgo

to obtain the degree of Master of Science at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Thursday September 30, 2021 at 11:00 AM.

Student number: 5131308 Project duration: January 22, 2021 - September 30, 2021 Thesis committee: Prof. dr. P. French TU Delft supervisor Ir. K. Rassels TU Delft co-supervisor Ir. C. Lauwerijssen 2M Engineering Ltd. supervisor dr.ir. A. Bossche

An electronic version of this thesis is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.





Preface

This report presents the work done to complete the course BM51035 BME MSc Thesis and obtain the graduation from the MSc in Biomedical Engineering at the faculty of Mechanical, Maritime and Materials Engineering (3mE). This project has been supervised by Prof. dr. P. French and Ir. K. Rassels from TU Delft, and Ir. C. Lauwerijssen from 2M Engineering Ltd.

José López Hidalgo Delft, September 2021

Acknowledgments

The completion of this master thesis would not have been possible without the support and assistance of many people.

First, I want to thank Stella, who gave me the opportunity of doing my internship and my thesis at 2M Engineering and guided me during half of the process. I really appreciate the help and motivation I received from you. Thank you for betting on me.

I would like to express my gratitude to all previous and current employees of 2M, to Coen, my supervisor, and to Gillian. You have made me grow as a professional but also as a person, and you have accepted me as one of your team. I could not have asked for a better environment to carry out my internship and my graduation project.

I also want to thank my TU Delft supervisors, professor Dr Paddy French and Kianoush Rassels. Thank you for guiding me during this project, for your honesty and your help.

I appreciate help I received from some physiotherapists and patients with my thesis as well. Their opinion and experience was of great value for this project.

In addition, I want to thank my family and friends. To my parents and brother, thank you for all the unconditional support you have given me all my life. I have come this far thanks to all the efforts you have made for me to have all the opportunities I wanted. I hope that I can make you proud and that I become the son and brother that you deserve.

To my friends in Málaga, thank you for always being there, no matter the distance, and for always welcoming me as if I had never gone away.

To the wonderful people I have met in Delft, I owe you some of the happiest, most random and unforgettable moments of my life. I regret not having been able to see you as much as I would have wanted this last year. However, every time I am with you, you make me feel as if we had not been separated at all.

Lastly, I cannot finish this without giving credit to the person who has been here with me this whole year. This year has been the hardest and most stressful of my life. I have wanted to quit many times what I was doing. It is thanks to your immeasurable help and love that I have been able to finish this project. Thank you, Marina.

Contents

1	Intro	duction 1
	1.1	Research Goal
	1.2	Used Technologies
	1.3	Report Outline 2
2	Lite	ature Research 5
	2.1	Medical Scope
		2.1.1 Anatomy of the knee
		2.1.2 Knee pain
		2.1.3 Surgical procedures
		2.1.4 Phases of the rehabilitation
		2.1.5 Core exercises
		2.1.6 Assessment of the outcomes
		2.1.7 Complementary therapies
		2.1.8 Game-based rehabilitation
		2.1.9 Interviews with therapists and patients
	2.2	Technical Scope
		2.2.1 Sensors used in this project
		2.2.2 Orientation representations
		2.2.3 Sensor calibration
		2.2.4 Sensor fusion algorithms
2	Roh	abilitation Game Design 15
5	3 1	Design Process 15
	3.2	Concept of the game 16
	0.2	321 Track design 17
		322 Characters 17
		323 Game features 18
	33	Input system
	0.0	3 3 1 Input Conversion Algorithm 19
	34	User interfaces 21
	0.1	3 4 1 Patient's user interface 21
		3.4.2 Physiotherapist's user interface
	3.5	Database 24
	.	
4	Cali	bration Tool 25
	4.1	Current Calibration Approach
	4.2	Proposed Calibration Tool
		4.2.1 Virtual Avatar Calibration Algorithm
5	Rep	orting System 29
	5.1	Progress Report for the Patient
	5.2	Progress Report for the Physiotherapist
6	Vali	lation of the algorithms
0	6 1	Materials and methods 33
	0.1	611 Materials 33
		612 Methods 33
		61.3 Statistical analysis of the data

	6.2	Discus 6.2.1 6.2.2 6.2.3	sion Interpreta Limitation Conclusi	ation of t ns of the ons	he res exper	 ults. imen	 t 	 	 	 	· ·	 		 	· · · · · ·		 		 	 	 	 35 35 38 38
7	Volu 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ntarily Calibra Test of Physio Patient	tests and ition test the game therapists s' respon	I questi 	onnair 	res 	 	 	 	 	· ·	 		 	 		 		 	 	 	 41 41 42 43 43
8	Disc 8.1 8.2 8.3	Discus Discus Conclu Future	and Consion	clusion	S 	 	 	 	 	 		 	•	 	 		 	•	 •	 •	 	45 45 47 47
Bi	bliog	raphy																				49
Gl	ossai List o List o	ry of Acror of Symb	nyms ools			 	 	 	 	• •		 		 		•	 		 •	 •	 	55 55 55
Α	Syst A.1 A.2	tem Red Functic A.1.1 A.1.2 A.1.3 Nonfur	quiremen onal Requ Requiren Requiren Requiren octional R	its irements nents for nents for nents for equirem	s. all use the ph the pa ents.	 ers . nysio atient	ther	 apis	 sts 	- · · - · · - ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · ·	· · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		 	 	· · · · · ·	 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 61
в	Info	rmed co	onsent fo	rm for t	he stu	ıdy																63
С	Que C.1 C.2 C.3	stionna Volunta Questio Questio	iires arily study onnaire fo onnaire fo	[,] questio or physio or patient	nnaire therap ts	ists						 	•	 		•	 	•	 	 •		65 65 69 73

Introduction

Every year, nearly five million people undergo knee surgery[49, 63], making it one of the most common orthopaedic procedures. Sport-related and traumatic injuries, like torn menisci or ligaments, and age-related diseases, such as osteoarthritis, are the major causes that lead to a knee operation. To recover mobility, stability and muscle strength, the person must go through a post-surgical rehabilitation program.

The prize of these physiotherapy sessions increases the already high medical cost of the treatment. For instance, only in the USA, the expenditure on knee surgeries performed to treat degenerative diseases exceeds \$3 billion per year[63].

Another inconvenience is that rehabilitation is repetitive. Patients repeat the same set of exercises over and over again. That might make them lose motivation and discourage them before finishing the whole program.

Lastly, this rehabilitation is inaccessible for some people, not only because of the medical cost. People who live far away from a hospital or rehabilitation centre, or in areas where the public healthcare system is saturated, cannot follow a rehabilitation protocol properly.

As a result, many people abandon their rehabilitation programs, so they do not fully recover the pre-injury state.

This can be solved through gamification, engaging these patients to get better results, allowing for telerehabilitation and providing the therapists with valuable information about the patient's performance.

1.1. Research Goal

The research goal of this project is to develop a game for post-surgery knee rehabilitation controlled with inertial measurement units (IMUs) to increase patient engagement, reduce medical costs and, ultimately, accelerate the rehabilitation process.

To achieve this goal, there are several tasks that need to be done:

- · Literature research.
- · Survey with physiotherapists and patients.
- Implementation of a new calibration tool.
- Implementation of a reporting system.

The literature review and the survey with the stakeholders will answer the medical and technical questions that result from the problem we want to solve. That knowledge will allow us to determine the best methodology we have to use for our solution.

The system used as the controller of the game implements a calibration tool that needs to be improved, as it does not work accurately with people with limited mobility. Therefore, we will have to develop a new calibration algorithm that suits our scope.

Lastly, the game needs to satisfy also the physiotherapist's requirements. For that reason, it is necessary to implement a reporting system that provides them with relevant medical information about the patient's progress.

1.2. Used Technologies

The sensor used in this project was the NODES System. It is a motion capture system to measure and record the orientation of human body segments, developed by 2M Engineering. Figure 1.1 shows the diagram of this system.

On the left, we can see the sensors used, that are IMUs. Several sensors are connected in series, forming a sensor string. Finally, these strings are connected to the main node or unit through sensor strings. The NODES unit contains five sensor string inputs.

The main unit processes the output of the sensors. We can differentiate three blocks inside it. Represented by the blue square, we have the preprocessing of the data. The input of this block is the raw data from the sensors. During this data preprocessing, there is a mounting frame calibration and noise compensation. Additionally, the data is converted to the International System of Units. This calibrated raw data can be stream as the output of the NODES System.

When the user requests the system to stream quaternions, the preprocessed data goes into the Sensor Fusion Algorithm (SFA) that the system implements, a Novel Madgwick algorithm modified by 2M. It corresponds to the green block shown in the diagram. This algorithm estimates the orientation of each sensor in quaternion form.

Finally, the red block corresponds to the sensor calibration. The user can carry out the calibration of the Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU)s at any time. As a result, the scale and offset values used in the preprocessing of each sensor will be updated.



Figure 1.1: Diagram of the NODES System.

1.3. Report Outline

This report starts with a review of medical literature to analysed different aspects of knee rehabilitation and the survey with physiotherapists. Then, there is an overview of the state-of-the-art methodologies used to process the data from the type of sensors we use.

Chapter 3 will focus on the game developed. First, the concept of the game is presented. This includes an overview of the process followed to design the level and characters that appear in the game. The following section is about the algorithm created to convert the movement of the patient into a standard input for the game. After that, the save and load system of the game is explained. This system is needed to store the data recorded during the game so it can be visualised later by the patient or physiotherapist in the progress report. The next section is about the two user interfaces of the application, one for patients and another one for physiotherapists. Finally, the database created to manage those two users is explained, together with the scripts written to implement features like the login or registration of users, for instance.

Chapter 4 focuses on the second goal of the project, that is, a new calibration approach for the NODES System. In the first section, the current calibration tool is analysed and its problems are exposed. The following section explains the principles of the proposed calibration algorithm and shows the C# code created to implement it.

Chapter 5 focuses on the remaining goal, the reporting system to update the physiotherapist and

show them the patient's progress. This system consists of two different reports. The first one is shown in the patient's user interface. On the other hand, the second report is for the physiotherapist.

In chapter 6, the experiment performed to validate the two algorithms that were developed is explained. First, the materials and methods used during the experiment are listed. Then, the results of the different tests are shown. Finally, these results are discussed.

Chapter 7 focuses on the voluntarily study made with employees from 2M Engineering and in the questionnaires created for physiotherapists and patients. The first two sections of this chapter correspond to the tests of the study. One test focuses on the calibration and the other on the game. The following section is about the questionnaire for the physiotherapists. This questionnaire was sent to the people that were interviewed at the beginning of the project. The last section shows the answers from the questionnaire created for people who had knee surgery before. This questionnaire was distributed among the interviewees' patients and on social media.

The last chapter of the report corresponds to the conclusion. In this chapter, the project and the results of the different tests and surveys are summarised. Additionally, the chapter ends with a section that focuses on the future work that could be done to improve what was done in this project.

 \sum

Literature Research

Literature research was carried out to achieve the objectives mentioned in 1.1. This review has two scopes: medical and technical.

The medical literature review focuses on understanding the rehabilitation of the knee. It starts discussing the knee anatomy, the problems that can happen in this joint, and how are they solved through surgery. After that, the different phases, exercises and outcome assessment methods are explained. Finally, there is a review of rehabilitation technology, with an especial focus on the use of games in physical rehabilitation. This research also includes the survey with physiotherapists and patients and its outcomes.

The technical literature research, which tries to answer the questions mentioned above, starts with the type of sensor used and the different orientation representations. After that, the calibration process is explained. Finally, there is a state-of-the-art review of the sensor fusion algorithms used for motion tracking, with a comparison between the most important ones.

The requirements for the game, the calibration tool and the reporting system were extracted from the conclusions and experience gained after this research and the interviews with health professionals and patients.

2.1. Medical Scope

2.1.1. Anatomy of the knee

The knee is the largest and most complex joint of the body. It is located on the lower limb and joins the thigh and the leg or shank together. It consists of two joints: the tibiofemoral joint and the femoropatelar joint. Both of them are synovial joints, i.e., they have a matrix of connective tissue between the bones separating them. This matrix, that is the synovial cavity, forms the articular capsule.

Additionally, we can classify them according to the shape of their articular surfaces and movements permitted. The tibiofemoral joint is a modified hinge, while the femoropatelar joint is a plane. These two types of joint combined allow the knee to move with two degrees of freedom: flexion/extension and, only when the knee is at 90° of flexion, internal/external rotation. A healthy person shows a high range of knee flexion, limited predominantly by the contact between the thigh and lower leg. On the other hand, the maximum extension and rotations of the knee are typically low. Table 2.1 shows the average values of each movement for a healthy person.

Movement	Range of motion (°)
Extension	5-10
Flexion	120-150
Internal rotation ¹	10
External rotation ¹	30-40

Table 2.1: Range of motion of the knee joint in healthy people[44].

¹Only when the knee is flexed 90°.



Figure 2.1: The knee joint. Sagittal section through the right knee joint (a), superior view of the right tibia showing the menisci and cruciate ligaments (b) and anterior view of right knee shoving the quadriceps and its tendons. Picture retrieved from [6].

The bones that form the knee are the femur, tibia, fibula and patella or kneecap. The femur presents two articular surfaces on its distal end: the medial and lateral condyles. They are two convex, ovoid protuberances separated by a groove known as the patellar surface that connects with the kneecap. The regions right above the condyles are the epicondyles. The condyles articulate with the concave medial and lateral condyles of the tibia. The proximal head of the tibia presents the intercondylar eminence that separates the condyles. Lastly, the head of the fibula connects with the inferior region of the lateral tibial condyle.

Apart from bone tissue, there are three other types present in the knee: cartilage, ligaments and muscles. The cartilage tissue covers the articular surface protecting the ends of long bones. It is inside the synovial capsule, which encloses the knee joint only partially. It is present on the posterior and lateral facets of the knee. Anteriorly, there are only tiny flattened sacs filled with a thin layer of synovial fluid, the bursa. The bursae provide a cushion between adjacent structures to reduce friction during knee movements.

Additionally, there are two crescent-shaped fibrocartilaginous tissues on top of the tibial condyles known as the menisci. The function of these tissues is to protect the knee. They are concave on the top and flat on the bottom, and they get thinner towards the centre. They are separated by the intercondylar eminence and attached only to the outer surface of the tibia. The menisci disperse and absorb the load to the knee joint and reduce friction. They also help to prevent side-to-side rocking of the femur on the tibia.

The ligaments that join the femur with the tibia or fibula are four, two outside and the other two inside the articular capsule. The outer ligaments are the fibular and tibial collateral ligaments. The first one runs from the lateral epicondyle to the fibular head, while the second one goes from the medial epicondyle to the medial condyle of the tibia. Additionally, the tibial collateral ligament fuses with the medial meniscus. The latter two ligaments are the Anterior Cruciate Ligament (ACL) and the posterior cruciate ligament. The ACL attaches to the anterior tibial intercondylar area and the medial side of the lateral femoral condyle, while the posterior cruciate ligament runs from the posterior tibial intercondylar area to the lateral side of the medial femoral condyle. Additionally, the patella is attached to the tibia and femur thanks to the patellar ligament and the medial and lateral patellar retinacula. These four ligaments stabilize the knee joint and prevent hyperextension of the knee and forward sliding of the

tibia and femur.

Finally, the knee moves due to the action of the muscles in the thigh and lower leg. Some of them are monoarticular, i.e., they only act at the knee, but many others move the hip or ankle joints, too. The knee flexion is accomplished primarily by the action of the long and short heads of the biceps femoris, the semitendinosus and the semimembranosus muscles. These four muscles are known as the hamstring muscles. Additionally, other muscles like the sartorius, the gracilis, the gastrocnemius, the plantaris and the popliteus can also flex the knee. The popliteus muscle also unlocks the extended knee when flexion begins by rotating the leg medially. The extension of the knee, on the other hand, is the role of the quadriceps femoris, form by the rectus femoris and the vastus lateralis, medialis and intermedius. The patellar ligament and retinacula mentioned before are, in fact, the continuation of this muscle's tendons.

2.1.2. Knee pain

Problems with any of the tissues in the knee can introduce pain in the joint. Traumas, for instance, cause ligament sprain, tear of a meniscus, muscle strains, bone fractures, joint dislocations or inflammations of bursae (bursitis), tendons (tendinitis) or the synovial membrane (synovitis). These inflammations could also be the result of overuse, infections or other diseases. Common knee disorders are osteoarthritis, arthritis, osteomyelitis and tumours. Additionally, some disorders are associated with certain sports, like the iliotibial band syndrome or the patellofemoral pain syndrome, which is the most common sports-related knee disorder. Lastly, other causes of pain are deformities that affect the joint, like genu varum and genu valgum.

These knee problems are generally related to physical and occupational activity, sedentary lifestyles, obesity and age. There are non-surgical and surgical treatments to manage and heal this pain. Not all the disorders mentioned above require surgery. In some cases, this pain can be relieved with home remedies like the Rest, Ice, Compression and Elevation (RICE) method, alternative medicine such as acupuncture, physiotherapy or knee braces. However, more severe cases require the use of analgesic drugs and even a surgical operation. That is especially the case for traumatic injuries or fractures and worn out knee joints. Most of the knee surgeries performed are related to ACL injuries, fractures, torn menisci, bursitis, tendinitis, osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis.

2.1.3. Surgical procedures

There are three types of knee interventions: knee arthrotomy, knee arthroscopy and knee arthroplasty. Each of them is intended for specific pathologies. Depending on the origin and severity of the pain, the patient will undergo one type or another.

An arthrotomy is a surgery where the joint is explored by opening a large incision. This type of intervention has been substituted almost entirely by arthroscopic knee procedures, as they are minimally invasive. In this second type, only two small incisions are needed, one for the surgical instruments and another one arthroscope, which is the specific endoscope used in this type of surgery. It is mainly performed to repair soft tissue, like a torn meniscus or an injured ACL, but also bone fractures.

On the other hand, an arthroplasty is the replacement of the knee joint with a prosthesis. It is primarily performed to repair the damage caused by osteoarthritis and for other diseases that worn out the knee, like rheumatoid arthritis. In either the partial or total knee replacement, the injured articular surfaces are replaced with implants typically made of metal, ceramic or plastic. Fractures or loosening of the prosthesis can occur after the operation, and they require a revision of the knee replacement. This surgery is needed as well when the lifespan of the knee implant is exceeded.

Many factors from the surgery have a considerable influence on the postoperative rehabilitation protocol, such as type of surgical procedure performed, graft choice, fixation method or size and location of the injury. While some interventions need only a couple of months, others take more than six months to rehabilitate. In either case, the knee gets swollen and painful after the surgery. While this situation continues, the motion of the knee is reduced or completely blocked, leading to muscle atrophy and joint stiffness. If this is not treated when the pain and inflammation have lessened, it may be impossible for the patient to return to the pre-injury state. Therefore, a rehabilitation plan is highly needed. Additionally, postoperative rehabilitation prevents also many other complications such as graft failure or thrombus formation.

2.1.4. Phases of the rehabilitation

The rehabilitation of an injury in the knee after surgery is a long process. It is typically divided into several phases that focus on recovering the skills lost, such as the complete range of motion or strength. An adequate rehabilitation program follows a functional progression, where the patient progresses through the different phases when they regain enough skills to do so. It is usually divided into five steps, from a maximum protection phase right after the surgery to the final return to sport phase[52, 53].

During the first phase, the injury has not healed, and the joint is still swollen. The primary goals at this point are to reduce pain and swelling and to recover some Range Of Motion (ROM) and muscle control.

When the patient advances to the second phase, the injury is almost healed, so the joint can bear more exercise than before. The aim now is to obtain full ROM, to increase muscle strength with light-weight exercises and to prepare the patient for walking.

In the third phase, patients build strength, power and proprioception. They also improve their confidence in their knee. Now, the patients can perform more demanding exercises like isokinetics or jogging.

The fourth phase corresponds to the return to activity stage. The goal of this period is to obtain maximum strength and muscle control. By the end of this phase, the patient should have the same balance, coordination and endurance in both knees.

Finally, the return to sport phase focuses on strength maintenance, endurance, and proprioception. When the patient is an athlete, this phase will also work towards conditioning the patient for a safe return to full participation.

2.1.5. Core exercises

A rehabilitation protocol combines different types of exercises. Some exercises focus on strength, while others are oriented to reduce swelling, improve ROM or gain more balance. Additionally, the same exercise can be adapted to follow a progression. For instance, the patient may start doing exercises assisted by another person or by a towel or other object, then without any help, and finally, increase the load by adding weights. Therefore, the possibilities are a lot. However, some exercises can be highlighted, for example, ankle pumps, different knee stretches, quadriceps sets, heel slides or squats.

All these exercises involved knee flexion or extension and the contraction of either the quadriceps or the hamstring muscles. Some exercises are done on a time basis, keeping the desire position for several seconds and then going back to the rest position, while others follow a repetition basis, where the exercise is repeated a fixed number of times. Additionally, these exercises can be grouped into active and continuous passive motion, open and close kinetic chain, or weight and non-weight bearing.

Active motion exercises, also known as Active Exercise Training (AET), are performed by the person alone, without any external assistance from a therapist or a device. On the other hand, Continuous Passive Motion Exercises (CPM) is performed by an assistant and not by the individual. The assistance may come from a physiotherapist or a device.

In an Open Kinetic Chain Exercise (OKC), the distal segment of the joint is free to move. Conversely, Close Kinetic Chain Exercise (CKC) don't allow the distal segment to move, and the knee bears the body and/or external weight.

Lastly, exercises can be classified as either weight or non-weight bearing, depending on whether the load is applied to the knee joint or not.

2.1.6. Assessment of the outcomes

The results of the surgery and posterior rehabilitation are evaluated using subjective and objective data. The subjective elements are questionnaires such as the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)[3] or the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)[58], where the patient's answers can show their satisfaction level after the surgery or pain during sport or daily activities, for example. On the other hand, the objective data consist of clinical examinations where the clinician measures the knee ROM[10, 17, 75], quadriceps strength[19, 36, 45] or knee girth[46, 60, 64], for example. There are also performance-based measures, such as hop tests; and imaging techniques, like radiography or magnetic resonance imaging, that can also be used to assess the progress of the rehabilitation.

2.1.7. Complementary therapies

Apart from conventional physical therapy, physiotherapists use several other methodologies in the rehabilitation of their patients. They are used to accelerate healing, augment strength or improve ROM, but also to help clinicians to diagnose and monitor their patients, for instance. The most relevant technologies are cryotherapy[8, 61], CPM[30, 37], electrical stimulation[22, 74], surface electromyographic biofeedback[2], shockwave therapy[70], electromagnetic tracking systems, and telerehabilitation.

2.1.8. Game-based rehabilitation

A special case of telerehabilitation is game-based rehabilitation. Conventional physiotherapy is repetitive and, for some people, even discouraging. However, a game can change that scenario into something motivating[9, 56, 66]. Additionally, games can distract patients and help them forget that they are in a rehabilitation session. This situation is known as flow experience[50]. People in that state are so focused on a game that they forget about everything else, even pain or other limitations related to their condition. The feedback from the game is also more dynamic than the one obtained from traditional rehabilitation, for example, with the use of mini-game objectives or different visual cues inside the game[32, 50].

Another significant advantage is the economy of scale[9]. We can individualise treatments to different patients and exercises to perform, while the hardware or assessment method can remain the same for all of them.

The use of software allows us to store high amounts of data from each session[9]. Additionally, this data can be accessed remotely by the therapist. Therefore, the clinician has more information available to evaluate the patient's progression.

It also has the advantage of providing consistent, unbiased and repeatable outcomes[56, 66].

Games may be beneficial in improving joint function, proprioception and dynamic balance, too[15, 26]. It might also help to change the movement patterns adopted after surgery into those of healthy people[27].

Telerehabilitation using a game reduces the time needed by the clinician to supervise their patients, the number of patient's visits to the rehabilitation centre, and the use of expensive equipment. Therefore, healthcare costs are minimised too. The Virtual Reality (VR) provides a low-cost, independent environment that the patient can use with little to no guidance from the therapist[9, 26, 56].

Several proposals have been made to control these games. Many studies have used commercially available options from the game industry, such as the Microsoft Kinect motion controller[42, 65], which is a device that can register the movement of the player, or the Nintendo Wii Fit video game[35, 48], that comes with the Nintendo Wii Balance Board (NWBB) and that provides a list of different yoga, strength, aerobic or balance games, for example. Another option is to control the game using their custom-made controllers, such as IMUs, potentiometers[51], Electromyography (EMG) sensors[39] or sphygmomanometers[16].

Some of the games are like virtual trainers [24, 43], showing how the prescribed exercise should be performed or showing feedback about the player's performance doing the exercise. On the other hand, other games take place in a setup that does not have anything to do with the rehabilitation but uses knee exercises to control it. Some examples are a game where the player controls a diver that needs to avoid shark[51]s, a fishing game[55] or a game where the player moves an aeroplane up and down to explode balloons and avoid dark clouds[16].

Immersive Virtual Reality (VR) and Augmented Reality (AR) have also been used in knee surgery post-rehabilitation[4, 14, 28, 29, 31, 57, 72]. This technology allows for a higher level of abstraction than computer games do.

Overall, most of the games that have been developed focus on knee flexion and extension. More demanding exercises, like squats or lunges, are included in some games, too[34].

2.1.9. Interviews with therapists and patients

Five people were interviewed to gather knowledge, experience and different point of view. Most of them were physiotherapists, but there were interviews with patients and other professionals too.

Several interviewees stated that the rehabilitation game could be used for different demographic groups and different injuries and that focus on only one specific age or problem might be an error. Furthermore, some interviewees expressed that the elderly can find this rehabilitation tool very attractive and motivating, contrarily to what people might think.

Another idea that was mentioned by many of them was the use of VR. According to them, VR might be great to avoid or reduce kinesiophobia and hypervigilance because the patient is immersed in a different environment that detaches them from reality. The first concept refers to the fear of feeling pain doing some movements. On the other hand, the latter is an enhanced state of sensory sensitivity in the injury. Therefore, this technology makes the patient's readaptation easier. This immersion can also improve proprioception and readaptation. However, they think that VR should be used in later phases of the rehabilitation and not right from the beginning.

It was made clear that the most important movement is knee flexion and extension and that it is the one that should be used in the game. Additionally, some interviewees pointed out that the foot should also be involved in the game. Several muscles in the lower leg that bend the knee do also control the ankle joint. Therefore, exercises like the ankle pumps are interesting to take into account for the game too.

Regarding the report, the ROM is the most significant parameter for all of them. Some people suggested that measuring quadriceps force would be interesting too. However, that cannot be measured with the sensors used in this project.

Lastly, one of the physiotherapists suggested that the game should adapt itself to the patient's progress. In that sense, it should focus more on improving extension when the patient has recovered faster the total flexion of the knee, and vice versa.

2.2. Technical Scope

2.2.1. Sensors used in this project

The NODES System uses Inertial Measurement Units (IMUs) An IMU is a system used to measure the orientation and displacement of the body where they are attached. They are used to navigate cars, aeroplanes, satellites or other vehicles and spacecrafts. Other applications that make use of this type of system are robotics and human motion tracking. An IMU typically integrates three sensors: accelerometer, magnetometer and gyroscope. Therefore, the output of an IMU will have nine components: the triaxial linear acceleration \vec{a} measured with the accelerometer, the triaxial angular velocity $\vec{\omega}$ given by the gyroscope, and the triaxial strength of the Earth's magnetic field \vec{m} obtained with the magnetometer. The readouts of the three sensors can be modelled as follows[47]:

$$y_a = K_a(\mathfrak{a} + g) + b_a + \mathfrak{v}_a \tag{2.1}$$

$$y_{\omega} = K_{\omega}\omega + b_{\omega} + \mathfrak{v}_{\omega} \tag{2.2}$$

$$y_m = K_m m + b_m + \mathfrak{v}_m \tag{2.3}$$

where y_a , y_ω and y_m are the readouts of accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer, respectively; b_a , b_ω and b_m are the accelerometer bias, the gyroscope bias and the magnetic distortion in that order; v_a , v_ω and v_m are the white Gaussian noise terms of each sensor and K_a , K_ω and K_m are the scale factor matrix of each sensor. The scale factor matrix is a 3×3 matrix, where each row corresponds to the sensitivity of one sensor's axis. Ideally, it is equal to the identity matrix. Besides, the acceleration measured by the accelerometer can be decomposed into gravitational g and external non-gravitational a accelerations.

They are cheap thanks to their small size, low weight and little battery consumption. However, this type of device has several disadvantages.

The sensor attitude can be estimated with or without the information from the magnetometer. In either case, we have to integrate the accelerometer and gyroscope signals to obtain the orientation. By doing that, we are also integrating their noise. Finally, the magnetometer can introduce errors in the measure due to magnetic disturbances produced by ferromagnetic materials.

Overtime, the errors accumulate and the estimated value of the sensor starts drifting from the true value. For that reason, it is not recommendable to use the accelerometer, gyroscope or magnetometer alone. Therefore, to compensate the the IMU's bias and increase its accuracy we need to combine the readouts of at least two of these sensors. This way, we obtain a meassure with less uncertainty. This is done using a Sensor Fusion Algorithm.

2.2.2. Orientation representations

There are three methods to express the orientation of the sensor in space, and each of them has its advantages and disadvantages [18, 54].

The first approach is to represent the orientation as Euler angles (EA): roll, pitch and yaw. It is the most computationally expensive of the three, but it is the most intuitive, too. The Euler angles represent three rotations, one per axis, performed in a specific order to go from one reference frame to a different one.

Another alternative is the quaternion representation. Quaternions typically require the lowest computational load. They can be represent as a quadruple where q_0 , q_1 , q_2 and q_3 are scalars, and **i**, **j** and **k** denote the unit vectors for the x-, y-, and z-axes, respectively:

$$q = q_0 + \mathbf{i}q_1 + \mathbf{j}q_2 + \mathbf{k}q_3$$

They also have the advantage that they are not vulnerable to gimbal lock, unlike Euler angles. Gimbal lock occurs when two axes become aligned after rotating one of them, leading to the loss of one degree of freedom. However, due to their four degrees of freedom, the physical meaning of the motion is lost. Additionally, we need a constraint to reduce it to the three dimensions of the Euclidean space.

Lastly, orientations can be expressed as a Direction Cosine Matrix (DCM). It is a 3x3 rotation matrix, where each column represents the projection along the reference base of unit vectors in another frame.

$$DCM = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} & A_{13} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} & A_{23} \\ A_{31} & A_{32} & A_{33} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.4)

Computationally, its performance is in between the other two methods because the rotation matrix is immediately obtained. Moreover, the equations to find the propagated direction are linear. However, a drawback is that there are significantly more parameters than in the other representations. Therefore, it is necessary to include several constraints to estimate the rotation matrix.

2.2.3. Sensor calibration

An IMU needs to be calibrated before using it. This procedure is required to cancel out sensor offsets or orientation errors of the three sensors and to find the relations between sensor, mounting and global frames[7]. The calibration process has three phases.

The first step is the sensor frame calibration. Sensors convert a physical measurement into an electrical signal. Between the axes of the sensor, there might be differences in their gain or offset and misalignment between them. Therefore, to convert the electrical signal back to the physical domain, we need to compensate for those differences. Additionally, the resulting measure is converted to the International System of Units. It is performed during the sensor's assembly at the factory. Exceptionally, the magnetometer needs to be calibrated before every use due to magnetic distortions from the environment. The way to do that is to solve the ellipsoid-fitting problem[25] to find new and correct values for these gains and offsets.

After the sensor frame calibration, the axes of the sensor are orthogonal to each other. However, they may not have the same orientation as the casing. Therefore, the second step is the mounting frame calibration to find the rotation that relates both coordinate bases. This calibration also occurs at the factory. Three well-known approaches to do this are the Local Level Frame (LLF) method, the six-position static method and rate tests[62, 67]. They all use precise turntables to find the offset and errors in the sensors when specific static positions or dynamic movements are performed.

The last procedure is to find the geometrical relation between mounting and anatomical or world frames. This calibration needs to be done every time we use the sensors. This calibration can be performed in either static and dynamic conditions.

During static calibration, the rigid body where the IMU is attached is not moving, and the rotation matrix is obtained by comparing several vectors in the mounting frame with their equivalents in the global one. In general, the vectors used here are the gravity vector and the Earth's magnetic field vector. Additionally, the body segment where the IMU is mounted needs to be in a fixed position so that the anatomical frame is known.

On the other hand, in the dynamic scenario, the sensors are rotated along the axes of the limb. Using the gyroscope, we can obtain the axis around which the sensor is rotating.

Furthermore, both cases can be combined, for instance, by measuring the gravity vector in a static condition and then performing a rotation to obtain an axis perpendicular to gravity. In either case, only two axes are needed, as the third one is obtained using the product of both vectors.

2.2.4. Sensor fusion algorithms

A Sensor Fusion Algorithm (SFA) is a method used to merge the information of a set of sensors to obtain a combined output. It is possible to get an estimated measure using the sensors individually. However, as it was mentioned before, changes in environmental conditions, such as the temperature, introduce errors in the estimated measure that might accumulate overtime and produce a noticeable deviation from the true measure. By combining the signal of different sensors, we can compensate the drift of one of the sensors by comparing its information with the value estimated using the other sensors. Thanks to that, and the resulting information has less uncertainty.

There are two main algorithms used for orientation tracking: Complementary Filter (CF) and Kalman Filter (KF). Additionally, there are two algorithms that, although they are not SFAs, are present in most CFs and KFs implementations. They are Strap-Down Integration (SDI) or rate gyroscope integration, which calculates the orientation using only the angular velocity measured by the gyroscope; and Vector Observation (VO), finds the orientation by comparing at least two vectors in the sensor frame with their equivalent vectors in the global base. In applications using IMUs, the vectors used are typically the normalized direction of acceleration due to gravity g measured by the accelerometer and the normalized Earth's magnetic field b measured by the magnetometer.

In a CF, two different noisy measurements are combined to produce a single filtered output. In general, the signals have low and high-frequency noise, respectively. Hence, the transfer function of a CF contains a low-pass (L(s)) and a high-pass (H(s)) filters with a combined gain equal to the unit.

$$L(s) + H(s) = 1$$
(2.5)

These transfer functions can take any form, being a first-order proportional filter, with cut-off frequency k_p , the least complex one.

$$L(s) = \frac{k_p}{k_p + s} \tag{2.6}$$

$$H(s) = \frac{s}{k_p + s} \tag{2.7}$$

Most CFs approximate these transfer functions using only the first-order term, although there are some implementations of second[33] and higher-order filters.

There are many different CFs, but among the most important implementations are Mahony filter[20, 41], which is a Nonlinear Complementary Filter (NCF), and Madgwick filter, that uses a Gradient Descent Algorithm (GDA) to minimise the error in the estimated orientation and also includes steps to compensate for magnetic distortion and gyroscope bias. There are three different formulations of the latter algorithm: original[40], improved[1] and novel[71] versions.

On the other hand, a KF is a recursive filter. First, the state is predicted from the previous iteration using the dynamic equations of the system. Then, that a priori state is updated using the information from the measurements. This update is done to minimise the estimated error covariance. Two steps can be distinguished: the propagation phase and the update phase. KFs are mainly used in guidance, navigation and control of vehicles, and human motion tracking.

The filter aims to solve the following discrete equations:

$$x_{k+1} = Ax_k + Bu_k + w_k (2.8)$$

$$z_k = H x_k + v_k \tag{2.9}$$

where x_k and z_k are the state and measurement vectors of the system at time k, A and H are the transition and observation matrices between states, B is a matrix relating the control input vector u_k with to the system states and w_k and v_k are the process and measurement noise vectors. Both w_k and v_k are assumed to be white noise processes independent of each other and stationary over time. Their covariances are Q_K and R_k , respectively. In the standard KF, also known as discrete or linear KF,

solving the system gives us the following five equations. The equation to find the new estimate using the a priori state vector and the measurement data is

$$\hat{x}_k = \hat{x}'_k + K_k (z_k - H \hat{x}'_k) \tag{2.10}$$

where K_k is the Kalman Gain. This gain is updated every time using the following equation.

$$K_k = P'_k H^T (H P'_k H^T + R)^{-1}$$
(2.11)

Lastly, the equations to update the a posteriori covariance and to propagate the estimates to the next time step are

$$P_k = (I - K_k H) P'_k$$
(2.12)

$$\hat{x}_{k+1} = A\hat{x}'_k$$
 (2.13)

$$P_{k+1} = AP_k A^T + Q \tag{2.14}$$

There are many linear and nonlinear variants of the standard KF, being the Extended Kalman Filter (EKF) the most relevant one performance-wise.

Many publications use the three filters outlined before, i.e., Mahony, Madgwick and EKF, as references to test the algorithms they develop. Bergamini et al. [5], Caruso et al. [12], Cavallo et al. [13], Fan et al. [21], Feng et al. [23], Ludwig and Burnham [38], Rosario et al. [59], Valenti et al. [68, 69], Young [73].

Table 2.2 was created using the results of those studies. It shows the trade-off criteria to see which algorithm is more suitable for this project. The aspects compared are computational load, complexity, estimation errors in noiseless and noisy measures, power consumption and memory requirement. For all of them, low values are desired.

	Computational load	Complexity	Estimation errors in noiseless measures	Estimation errors in noisy measures	Power consumption	Memory requirement		
Madgwick	Low	Low	Medium	Medium	Low	Low		
Mahony	Low	Low	Medium	High	Low	Low		
EKF	High	High	Low	Low	High	High		

Table 2.2: Comparison between the three main SFAs.

Both Mahony and Madgwick are filters with low values for all the parameters. In general, they have a similar performance. However, when the magnetic disturbances are strong, the estimation error using the Mahony algorithm is higher.

On the other hand, the EKF has the lowest estimation errors of the three algorithms, thanks to its flexibility. However, most of the studies cited above used the original version of the Madgwick filter, and the novel formulation of this algorithm, which is the one that the NODES System uses, has a better performance. Therefore, if we were to compare the EKF with the novel Madgwick filter, the difference in accuracy would not be significant. Additionally, the flexibility of the EKF comes at the cost of increased complexity and the necessity of an accurate model of the system. With a higher complexity, the computational load needed increases too. Furthermore, the power consumption and memory requirement also increase with respect to the other two filters.

To sum up, the comparison between these three SFAs shows that the Madgwick algorithm is the best option for this project. Moreover, as the version used in the NODES System is an improved formulation of the Madgwick filter, it can be expected that its performance will be even better than with the other options.

3

Rehabilitation Game Design

This project's goal is to develop a post-surgery knee rehabilitation game to accelerate the rehabilitation of these patients, increase their motivation and reduce medical costs. Using gamification in this medical context brings us two main benefits. On the one hand, using game principles such as points or objectives, we can create an engaging virtual environment. This setting can motivate patients to follow their rehabilitation program and get better results.

On the other hand, the game could be play at home, allowing for telerehabilitation. Therefore, it would reduce medical expenses and the number of visits to the physiotherapist that the patient has to do.

Additionally, the game we are going to create is controlled with a sensor system developed by 2M called the NODES System. It uses IMUs to capture the motion of one or more limbs. Using this type of sensor, we can save information from the patient's movement while playing. This data would then be processed and sent to the physiotherapist in a report. Thanks to this, the physiotherapist can keep track of a patient's progress and modify their rehabilitation program accordingly.

Figure 3.1 shows an overview of the system and the user interactions.





3.1. Design Process

The design process started with the literature research and survey discussed in the previous chapter. The first thing that was decided was the focus of the game. The exercises of a rehabilitation program focus on several parameters, such as stability, range of motion or strength. However, the sensors we use limit our possibilities. Taking that into account and after finding which were the main elements in knee rehabilitation, it was decided to focus on improving range of motion. The NODES System monitors the patient's movement. Therefore, we can obtain the maximum extension and flexion of the patient at every session and see how it evolves.

Then, we had to select the exercise or exercises to include in the game. We saw that the best exercise we could use in the game was the flexion and extension of the knee in different positions. The reason is that it is directly related to the range of motion. Additionally, it can be performed at any stage of the rehabilitation. In the beginning, the patient may practice lying on the bed and facing up or down. When the pain and range of motion allow it, the patient can start playing sitting. In the last stages of the rehabilitation, the patient can perform the exercises standing. This way, although the game does not change during the different rehabilitation phases, its difficulty can still be adjusted to the patient's progress.

With the focus and exercise clear, it was time to decide the type of game we were going to implement: 2D, 3D or VR/AR. We studied their advantages and disadvantages and, although the use of VR was promising according to both the literature and some of the physiotherapists we interviewed, this option also had significant drawbacks like motion sickness, for instance. For this reason, the final decision was to create a 3D game. After interviewing physiotherapists and patients, the concept of the game was selected.

In parallel to the previous steps, the functional and non-functional requirements of the game were defined.

The developing phase started with the user interface. There are two different interfaces, one for the physiotherapists and one for the patients.

Following the user interface, we designed the game scene and implemented all the features we had conceived. This will be explained in more details in section 3.2.1. At this point, we also implemented the algorithm that takes the output of the NODES System and uses it as the controller of the game.

The last step in the design of the game was to implement the reporting system. This process had several iterations. In each iteration, the stakeholders gave their feedback about the reporting system. With that feedback, the report was improved and then shown again in a new iteration.

3.2. Concept of the game

Many game concepts were considered during the literature research, like 2D side-scrolling games like Flappy Bird and 3D/VR basketball or archery games, for instance. In the end, the chosen option was a 3D kart racing game where the player competes against non-player characters to win a race. To control the car, the patient needs to bend the ankle and knee. Acceleration and braking/moving backwards are done by extending and flexing the ankle. Lastly, extending or flexing the knee will turn the car right or left, respectively.

The game runs at 60 frames per second. Therefore, the game takes, on average, 17ms to update the screen after receiving the sensor's data. As this delay is below 20ms, the input lag will be unnoticeable for the player because the human eye cannot perceive it[11].

The game's track was designed to make the patient exercise like in a standard rehabilitation exercise list. This is done by introducing as many right and left turns as repetitions we want the patient to make of these exercises. Therefore, the course of the game gives us the possibility to create different modalities of training in just one game. There could be circuits that focus more on the knee extension, tracks focusing more on knee flexion and others where both exercises are balanced.

However, that is not the only aspect that can specialise the training for the patient. The ROM of the patient is used to translate the movement of the leg into acceleration, braking and turning inputs. Thanks to that, the game will always force the patient to reach their maximum extension and flexion. By default, the threshold will be set to exercise the whole range of motion. However, the physiotherapist can modify it at any time. That way, when the physiotherapist thinks that the patient has recovered enough knee flexion but still lacks some extension, they can change the threshold, so the patient only exercises the knee extension and vice versa.

Additionally, the game can be played in many different positions: lying face down or up, seating and standing. Therefore, the difficulty can be adjusted to the current status of the patient.

The interface of the game is simple. There is a panel at the top of the screen showing the current lap, position of the player and current lap time. At the bottom left corner, there is an image of a steering wheel that rotates according to the movement of the patient's leg. This image is used to make it easier for the player to visualise the direction they are turning when they bend their knee. Finally, there is a button to exit the game.

When the patient finishes the race, a new panel appears on the screen. It shows the final position

and the best lap time of the patient, and it has two buttons, one to play again and another one to exit the game.



Figure 3.2: Pictures of the karting game. The left image shows the user interface during the game, while in the right one, the end game screen can be seen.

3.2.1. Track design

As it was mentioned before, the track was designed to simulate the exercises in a rehabilitation session. Therefore, it has as many left and right turns as knee flexion and extension repetitions we want the patient to do. It was created using Unity and Blender together. First, a Unity asset, called Bézier Path Creator, was used to create the track. The benefit of this tool is that we can access from a script the path that the road follows. Thanks to that, we can check if the players are going in the opposite direction or re-spawn a player when it goes outside of the track, for example.

Then, this game object was exported to Blender, where several other items were created, such as guardrails, a bridge and invisible walls for the AI players. The reason is that Blender provides many more features to design 3D models than Unity does. Back in Unity, a start line and checkpoints along the road were added too. The checkpoints are required by the non-player characters. They are used together with the invisible walls to teach how to drive around the track.

Lastly, a terrain with mountains, trees and water was added as decoration. This terrain was created using the Unity Terrain game object. This tool allows us to create different landscapes and add trees, rocks or grass to them. Additionally, the trees added to this terrain are rendered only when the player is at a certain distance. Rendering all the trees and other adornments in the level would slow down the game. Therefore, with Unity Terrain, the performance of the game can be improved.



Figure 3.3: Course and characters of the game. On the left, the road, terrain, guardrails and, represented by green lines, the checkpoints and invisible walls. On the right, the start line, the player character (red kart) and the Non-Player Character (NPC)s (yellow karts).

3.2.2. Characters

There are two types of characters: player and non-player characters. The player character is controlled by the patient, while the Non-Player Characters (NPCs) are controlled by a trained AI.

Both player characters and NPCs were created using the Karting Microgame from Unity Learn. This project is one of the examples available when you download Unity and contains many prefabricated

objects like cars, buildings, tracks and other decorations.

These objects, known in Unity as prefabs, already have C# scripts attached to them, providing all kinds of functionalities and behaviours. Therefore, there is no need of creating these models and scripts from scratch.

Conversely, we can partly modify these scripts, adding or removing lines of code for those game objects to behave as we want in this game. These modifications added several fields and properties to know their current position and number of laps, and to set if they can move and the type of input they will use.

Player character

The player character was created using the "KartClassic_Player" prefab and and generating a modified version of its original script. This script contains the modifications mentioned above and a new input system. An algorithm was created to convert leg movements into the standard inputs of the game. Therefore, this game object can only be controlled with the NODES System.

Additionally, an invisible game object was added to this prefab's model. This item is used to detect overtaking.

Non-player characters

The NPCs are instances of the "KartClassic_MLAgent" prefab. This prefab has all the scripts of "Kart-Classic_Player" plus several other scripts to make these characters move by themselves. To do that, we have to teach the AI how to drive around the course using machine learning. To do this training, we need checkpoints along the track and walls. When the NPC is set to training mode, it will generate a neural network model that will be able to follow the track by reaching each checkpoint and trying not to collide with the walls. With that model and in inferencing mode, the AI will drive as it was trained.

As it happened with the model of the player character, an object that is not visible in the game was added to be able to detect when a character overtakes another one.

3.2.3. Game features

In order to give the patient a good game experience, several features or elements were implemented.

- Race information: there is a panel at the top of the screen that shows the current lap, position and lap time of the patient.
- Exit button: it gives the patient the option to quit or restart or the game at any time, even if the race has not finished. When the player clicks this button, they are asked if they want to exit the game or to restart it.
- Steering wheel: there is a steering wheel on the bottom left corner that rotates according to the patient's knee. This element is a helping aid for the patient, so they can more easily relate the movement of the knee with the rotation of the car.
- Initial animation: it tries to mimic the start sequence that happens in real car races.
- Finish line: every time the patient crosses it, the lap count is incremented. When the last lap is finished, the end game menu is shown, and the control of the character is disabled.
- Overtaking: a system to recognise when a character passes another one was implemented. Additionally, this system is able to recognise when one character has finished more laps than other, so the overtake does not count.
- Opposite direction detection: in order to prevent the patient from cheating or the NPCs to drive in the opposite direction, the game detects when a character is moving in the wrong direction and rotates it back to the correct heading.
- End game menu: it shows the patient their final position and best lap time, and allow them to play
 again or go back to the main screen.



Figure 3.4: Axes of the puppet's leg segments. The foot is rotated -90° around the Y-axis (green).

3.3. Input system

The original input system of the original "ArcadeKart" script uses the arrows of the keyboard. This input system consists of two Boolean variables, *Accelerate* and *Brake*, and one float parameter, *Turn*, that ranges from -1 to 1. *Accelerate* and *Brake* are true only when the up or down arrow is being pressed, respectively. When the left or right arrow is pressed, the value of *Turn* becomes -1 or 1. After realising the key, its value goes back to zero at a certain speed specified by the developer.

The input system in the modified code contains the same three variables but uses the virtual avatar to calculate their values instead of the keyboard. This way, the avatar that replicates the patient's movements in the virtual world will act as the input. The values of *Accelerate*, *Brake* and *Turn* will be derived from the angles between the virtual limbs, than can be seen in figure 3.4. The green arrow represents the longitudinal axis. Then, the red arrow is the forward axis. Lastly, the blue arrow corresponds to the lateral axis. However, the axes of the foot are rotated -90° around the longitudinal axes. Therefore, the red and blue axes are interchanged.

3.3.1. Input Conversion Algorithm

This algorithm receives the angle θ that the lower leg forms with either the foot or the thigh, and converts it into the values of the input system mentioned above. These angles are computed as the angle between the longitudinal axes of both limbs around the lateral axis of the virtual lower leg. The formula to find this angle with the correct signed is the following:

$$\theta_{unsigned} = \arccos \frac{v_1 \cdot v_2}{|v_1||v_2|} \tag{3.1}$$

$$sign = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } v_3 \cdot (v_1 \times v_2) > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } v_3 \cdot (v_1 \times v_2) = 0\\ -1 & \text{if } v_3 \cdot (v_1 \times v_2) < 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

$$\theta = \theta_{unsigned} \cdot sign \tag{3.3}$$

where $\theta_{unsigned}$ is the unsigned rotational difference between limbs, v_1 and v_2 are the vectors from and to which the angular difference is measured, and v_3 is the axis around which the rotation is calculated. Therefore, v_3 is always the lower leg's lateral axis, while the other two vectors vary for each angle. For the knee angle, v_1 is the longitudinal axis of the sensor in the thigh, v_2 is the lower leg's negative longitudinal axis. On the other hand, the angle is found using the lower leg's negative longitudinal axis and the foot's negative longitudinal axis. Additionally, the knee angle is converted to keep the convention of extension and flexion angles. The extension is given with a positive sign, while the knee flexion has a negative sign. The origin is set to the neutral position, that is, a straight leg.

$$\theta_{knee} = \begin{cases} 180 - \theta & \text{if } \theta > 0\\ -180 - \theta & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Once that we have both θ_{ankle} and θ_{knee} , we can estimate the values of *Accelerate*, *Brake* and *Turn*.

$$Accelerate = \begin{cases} true & \text{if } \theta_{ankle} > \tau_{ankle} \\ false & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

$$Brake = \begin{cases} true & \text{if } \theta_{ankle} < \tau_{ankle} \\ false & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

$$k = \frac{8}{\left(\tau_{knee, 1} - \tau_{knee, 2}\right)^3}$$
(3.7)

$$Turn = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \theta_{knee} > \tau_{knee, 1} \\ -1 & \text{if } \theta_{knee} < \tau_{knee, 2} \\ k * \left(\theta_{knee} - \frac{\tau_{knee, 1} + \tau_{knee, 2}}{2}\right)^3 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

where τ_{ankle} is the threshold used to decide if the patient is accelerating or breaking from the ankle angle, and $\tau_{knee, 1}$ and $\tau_{knee, 2}$ are the current peak extension and flexion of the patient. When the bending of the knee is between the maximum extension and flexion, the equation corresponds to that of a cubical parabola, where k is the scale of the parabola and the negative term of the equation is the root, that is, the point where the value of *Turn* is equal to zero. The values for the maximum extension and flexion are recorded at the beginning of every session. Following the sign convention, the maximum flexion is negative.



Figure 3.5: Value of *Turn* over θ_{knee} . The maximum extension was set to -15° and the maximum flexion to -135°.

3.4. User interfaces

There is one interface for each type of user. They only share the start and registration menus, each of them with its scene. The StartMenu scene acts as the master scene of the game. When it is loaded, it destroys all objects that do not belong to that scene, and it is used to transmit information between different menus using the singleton pattern. A singleton is a class without a public constructor. The only way to create an instance of a singleton is by calling the GetInstance method, which prevents the user from having more than one instance of an object.



Figure 3.6: Start and registration menus of the application.

Both scenes are controlled with the StartMenu and Registration scripts, respectively. StartMenu has two input fields for the username and password and two buttons, one to log in and another to register a new user. When the user logs in, the application recognises whether the user is a patient or a physiotherapist and loads the correspondent screen. The script that controls this scene contains properties that allow to get and set the user's ID, the ID of the patient whose report the physiotherapist has requested and the exercise the patient will train more. The reason to include these parameters in this class is to keep them between scenes and use them when it is necessary. Additionally, there is a small button on the top right corner to quit the application.

The registration menu is nearly the same as the start menu. The only difference is the functionality of the buttons. Additionally, it does not have the quit button. One button returns to the start screen, and the other creates a new user and then returns to the main menu. The users created in this menu are only physiotherapists. To create a patient's account, the physiotherapist in their charge has to do it from their user interface. This account will have a default password that the patient can change afterwards.

The login button of the start menu and the create button of the registration screen are only enabled when the username and password both have at least eight characters.

3.4.1. Patient's user interface

The patient's interface consists of six different screens: main menu, calibration, ROM recording menu, controller guide, game, new password and report. Except for the first three, each menu corresponds to one scene in Unity. The reason why the first screens are in the same scene is that they share several game objects. This method saves execution time and memory, as we do not have to duplicate these objects.

The game and report screens are explained in sections 3.2 and 5.1, respectively.

Main menu

It has six buttons, the first five takes the user to the other menus from the patient's user interface, and the last button logs the patient out of the system, taking them back to the start menu. The button to play the game is only enabled when the NODES System is already connected to the application.

Calibration menu

The calibration menu has several elements. On the left side, there is a list of the devices available, a drop-down menu to select the calibration pose and five buttons. One button is to connect to the NODES System or to disconnect it. Then, the following two buttons are to calibrate the magnetometer and the virtual avatar, respectively. The last two buttons are used to go to the ROM recording menu or back to the main menu. These last two buttons cannot be active at the same time. When the avatar

Virtual KneeHab



Figure 3.7: Patient's start menu.

is calibrated, the "Accept" button is enabled and the "Back" button disabled. The rest of the time, only the second button is active. Additionally, the buttons to calibrate the magnetometer and avatar are only interactable when the NODES System is connected.

On the right side, there is a view of a room with the avatar that the patient controls with their movements and a smaller avatar at the right bottom corner that shows the calibration pose selected.



Figure 3.8: Calibration menu.

Range of motion recording menu

This screen shows the same room and avatars that are in the calibration menu. However, on the left side, it only has a text box and a button. The text box shows the instructions that the patient must follow. The button is used to continue measuring and to go back to the main menu. It is in this screen where the current ROM of the patient is measured and saved. This ROM will be used as the threshold of the algorithm that generates the inputs of the game, as it was explained in section 3.3.1.



Figure 3.9: Range of motion recording menu.

Controller guide

This screen is used to show the patient how to play the game. It shows a panel with some text at the top of the screen, a picture of the lower body of the virtual avatar on the right side and two buttons at the middle bottom. Additionally, the camera shows an empty room with the kart the patient controls in the actual game. By pressing the button on the left, the puppet will show the patient step by step how to accelerate, brake, turn left and turn right the kart. The other button takes the patient back to the main menu at any moment.



Figure 3.10: Controller guide screen.

New password

This screen lets the patient change their password. There are two input fields to enter the old password and the new one, a button to make this change and a button to go back to the main menu without changing the password. The first button is only interactable when both input fields contain more than eight characters.

Old Password
New Password
Change
Back

Figure 3.11: New password menu.

3.4.2. Physiotherapist's user interface

It contains only three screens: the main menu, the progress report menu and a screen to create new patients.

The main menu shows a list with the physiotherapist's patients on the left side and four buttons on the right side. The list shows the name and surname of the patient and a checkbox to select the patient. The buttons are used to remove patients from the database, see their progress, add a new patient or exit the application. The first two buttons are only interactable when a patient is selected.

On the other hand, the add patient menu contains three input fields for the username, name and surname of the patient, and two buttons. One button creates the patient in the database, and the other goes back to the main menu without adding any patient. The first button is only active when the username is at least eight characters long, and the other fields are not empty.

The report menu will be explained in section 5.2.

Virtua	al Kne	eHab	Virtual KneeHab					
List of patients		Remove Patient	Username					
Patient1 Patient1 Patient2 Patient2			Name					
Patient2 Patient2 Patient2 Patient3		See Progress	Surname					
Patient4 Patient4		Add Patient						
Patient5 Patient5			Create					
D // 10 D // 10								

Figure 3.12: Screens of the physiotherapist's user interface: start menu (left) and new patient menu (right).

3.5. Database

As the application is intended for two types of users, patients and physiotherapists, and a physiotherapist would typically be in charge of more than one patient, a database is needed. This database lets us differentiate the user using the application and show them the correct user interface. Additionally, it allows the physiotherapist to manage their patients and to see their progress.

A local server environment was built using the XAMPP software. XAMPP allows us to create a web server where we can add and manage databases. The databases can be created and modified using a portable web application.

Figure 3.13 shows the diagram of the system architecture. When a patient or physiotherapist uses the game, it connects to the web server where the database is. This connection takes place using the Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP). When the web server receives a request from some user, it passes this request to the Application Programming Interface (API) created in this project. This API checks that the information received is safe and sends back the information from the database that the user requested.



Figure 3.13: System architecture diagram.



Calibration Tool

In order to use the NODES System as the game's controller, we have to find the relationship between the orientation of the sensors in the real world and their counterparts in the virtual game. This virtual world or avatar calibration needs to be done every time the patient uses the game. The reason is that each time that the patient attaches the sensors to their leg, they will be in a different position and orientation, and the relationship between real and virtual sensor orientations will change.

The NODES System already includes a calibration procedure. However, there is a need to improve this current approach to make it more accessible for impaired or injured patients. As the game developed in this project is intended for people with limited mobility after surgery, one of the main tasks in this thesis is to propose a new calibration tool.

4.1. Current Calibration Approach

In the current method to calibrate the NODES System, developed by 2M, the user selects one of the predefined poses, and the person wearing the sensors copies it. When the calibration of the virtual avatar is initiated, the first quaternion or raw data sent by the NODES System to the computer is read and saved as the initial orientation. Then, the application extracts the forward direction from the sensor selected as the reference. The virtual world and avatar are then rotated, synchronising the forward direction of all three of them. This rotation takes place only around the upward axis.

Once that the virtual avatar is facing the same direction as the reference sensor, the orientation of each virtual sensor is synchronised with their real counterpart's initial one, and the limbs are rotated to match the selected pose. By doing this, the offsets and misalignments in the sensors' orientation with respect to the body limb are corrected.

Nevertheless, this approach presents two problems. The calibration poses are usually incompatible with people with impairments, like the patient in our scope. In the predefined poses, the limbs are either straight or at 90° of flexion. Therefore, their limited mobility makes it difficult for them to copy the requested postures completely.

Additionally, in this approach, the error in the calibration pose is coupled with the error introduced by the misalignment of the sensors. That means that when the application corrects the offset in the sensors' orientation, it adds the difference between the calibration pose and the actual pose of the person. Therefore, the offsets are not corrected properly.

Then, the goal here is to design an almost pose-free calibration tool that solves those two problems. By doing that, the patient will be able to calibrate and use the sensors at any moment of the rehabilitation, and the physiotherapist will receive more precise and reliable data.

4.2. Proposed Calibration Tool

The approach presented in this project considers the problems listed in the previous section and the condition of the people who will use the game. In consequence, this calibration should be valid during all phases of the rehabilitation. Essentially, that means that it should work when the patient can only lie in bed, when they can seat and when they can stand. However, the problem of the user not being able to copy the pose is still not solved.



Figure 4.1: Poses to calibrate the system taking into account the patient's level of disability: sitting (a), standing (b) and lying (c).

To solve the second problem of the current approach a new step will be added to the calibration algorithm at the beginning. This step consists in update the pose of the virtual avatar to match the person's true pose, before synchronising real and virtual worlds. With this extra step, the error between the actual posture of the user and the calibration pose is rectified before the offsets of the sensors are corrected. Not only that, but now the first problem is also solved, as a slight difference between the two poses will not affect the calibration anymore.

4.2.1. Virtual Avatar Calibration Algorithm

For the proposed calibration procedure, we will make two assumptions. First, the sensor in the lower leg is placed in the desired position without errors. Then, we can correct the pose of the virtual puppet before synchronising the forward direction of the virtual and real body frames.

Additionally, we will assume that the thigh and the lower leg have approximately the same length. To understand the importance of this assumption, we have to analyse the three cases. After a look at the diagrams for each scenario shown in figure 4.1, it can be seen that the problem of a person standing and lying are algebraically the same. In the picture, α , β , δ and γ and are the angles present in the knee at different poses, L_1 and L_2 are the lengths of the thigh and lower leg, respectively, and L_3 , L_4 and L_5 are the remaining distances of the triangles formed by the segments of the leg. Therefore, using the second premise, for the case of a person either lying or standing, we can extract the following equations from the diagram:

$$L_1 = L_2 \tag{4.1}$$

$$\begin{cases} L_3 = L_2 \cos \alpha \\ L_3 = L_1 \cos \beta \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

Substituting equation 4.1 in 4.2, the relationship between both angles is obtained.

$$\beta = \alpha \tag{4.3}$$

Therefore, estimating the initial knee flexion in those two cases is quite simple. However, the remaining case is not as straightforward as the other two. From figure 4.1a, we derive the following equations:

$$L_3 = L_2 \cos \alpha \tag{4.4}$$

$$L_4 = L_1 \sin \beta = L_5 - L_3 \tag{4.5}$$
$$\beta = \gamma - \delta \tag{4.6}$$

Now, in order to obtain the value of β , we have to find γ , which is the angle between the horizontal axis and the axis crossing hip and ankle, and δ , which is the angle between that last axis and the thigh.

$$\delta = \arccos\left(\frac{L_2}{2\sin\gamma} \cdot \frac{1}{L_2}\right) = \arccos\left(\frac{1}{2\sin\gamma}\right) \tag{4.7}$$

$$\gamma = \arctan\left(\frac{L_5}{\sqrt{L_1^2 - L_4^2} + \sqrt{L_2^2 - L_3^2}}\right) =$$

$$= \arctan\left(\frac{L_5/L_2}{\sqrt{1 - (L_5/L_2)^2 + \cos\alpha(2(L_5/L_2) - \cos\alpha) + \sin\alpha}}\right)$$
(4.8)

In the sitting scenario, L_5 denotes the height of the seat. To simplify equation 4.8, we will consider that the ratio between L_5 and L_2 is approximately the unit, that is, the user is sitting comfortably, with the seat at popliteal height. Then, the value of gamma is reduced to

$$\gamma = \arctan\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\cos\alpha \left(2 - \cos\alpha\right)} + \sin\alpha}\right) \tag{4.9}$$

Once that we have found γ , we can substitute it in equation 4.6.

$$\beta = \begin{cases} \arccos\left(\frac{1}{2\sin\gamma}\right) - \gamma - \frac{\pi}{3} & \text{if } \frac{\pi}{3} \le \alpha \le \frac{\pi}{2} \\ \gamma - \arccos\left(\frac{1}{2\sin\gamma}\right) & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(4.10)



Figure 4.2: Value of angle β over α . The equations showed in the graph corresponds to equation 4.10.

It can be seen that equation 4.10 α includes a new case, for values of α between 60° and 90°. The reason for this is that, in that range, the previous formula does not work. When α is greater than 60°, the absolute value of β decreases. That is equivalent to the knee moving up. However, the reality is that β keeps increasing in value until the leg is completely straight. A plot of the equations in 4.10 can be seen in figure 4.2.

To sum up, by assuming that the thigh and lower limb have the same length and that the sensor in the lower limb has no errors in orientation, we can find the angle between the thigh and an axis perpendicular to the knee, provide that we know the one for the lower leg. Using the estimated quaternion of the sensor in the lower leg, we can find α as the rotation in the lateral axis between that quaternion and the unity. Knowing the true flexion of the knee, we can correct the pose of the virtual puppet. Finally, the orientation of the thigh sensor, which may be inaccurate, is corrected. Then, the steps of this new calibration algorithm can be summarized as:

- 1. Estimate the real angle of the knee
- 2. Introduce that angle into the virtual model
- 3. Synchronise the orientation of the virtual world with the sensor in the lower limb
- 4. Correct the misalignments of the sensors in the thigh and foot.

5

Reporting System

In order to be a valuable asset for patients and physiotherapists during rehabilitation, the game must save the data generated during each session so both patients and health professionals can see how the rehabilitation is progressing. For that reason, the reporting system is one of the most relevant parts of the project, especially the report for the clinicians.

Therefore, the game contains two different types of progress reports. Additionally, each of these reports has its requirements.

5.1. Progress Report for the Patient

The main benefit of the game for a patient is that it motivates the person to continue the rehabilitation. In order to do that, the report must present the patient with a clear goal. Additionally, it will be used by people of all ages, so the information must be easy to understand. Therefore,

Following those two points and the recommendations of the professionals that were interviewed during the literature research, it was decided to include three elements in the report: a bar chart, a pair of progress bars and a list.

The bar chart shows the improvements in degrees made at each session. This improvement is estimated using the ROM recorded at the start of the game plus the peak ROM accomplished in that session. Typically, the patient would see larger improvements at the beginning when the range of motion is more limited, and smaller results towards the end of the rehabilitation program. Therefore, this element could motivate the patient at the beginning of the process.



Figure 5.1: Progress report shown to the patient.



Figure 5.2: Progress report shown to the patient when there is a setback in the rehabilitation.

The progress bars are helpful to show explicitly how far the patient is from the end goal of achieving a full ROM. There are two bars, one for extension and one for flexion. This way, the patient can see on which exercise do they need to focus more. The progress bar's value will be the new ROM as a percentage, where the minimum value corresponds to the ROM recorded at the first session, and the maximum value is equivalent to the goal.

In order to differentiate the improvement made in the current session from the progress of the previous sessions, the bar graph and progress bars use different colours for each. A legend at the bottom left corner of the menu shows which colour corresponds to each of them. Additionally, setbacks along the rehabilitation are represented in red. During the rehabilitation process, the patient can lose some range of motion gained in previous sessions. When this occurs, the progress bars will show this regression, as seen in figure 5.2.

Lastly, the list is used to give another goal to the patient. However, in this case, the goal is related to the game itself. In the list, the best scores are shown. The score here is the best lap time at a session. Each line of the list contains the position, the date of the session and the best lap time. This way, the patient will try to improve their results in the game too.

To sum up, using just these three elements, the patient's report is concise, and the patient can clearly see the accomplishments made during the rehabilitation.

5.2. Progress Report for the Physiotherapist

The report that the patient sees needs to be motivating and show a connection between entertainment and rehabilitation. On the other hand, the information provided to the physiotherapist must be meaningful and complete, as regular visits to the physiotherapist would be substituted by playing this game at home. In order to define what meaningful information means in this context, several physiotherapists and other health professionals were interviewed during the literature study.

There was a consensus that the ROM is, without a doubt, the most relevant parameter to show in this report. According to the physiotherapists, this report should show how the patient moved the knee during the whole session, peak values reached during it and mean ROM values.

With that in mind, a report with five elements was created. First, there is a line chart that shows the complete movement of the knee during a session. This movement is measured in degrees. Negative values of the Y-axis correspond with knee flexion, while positive values are equivalent to complete knee extension. The X-axis shows the time of the game session in minutes.

The second element is also a line graph. It shows the progression of the patient over the sessions. There are four lines in this plot that correspond to peak and mean values of knee extension and flexion. The X-axis shows the number of sessions, and the Y-axis is the same as in the previous diagram.

Then, there is a list containing all the sessions that the patient has done. The lines in this list have a

number for each session, the date and a checkbox. The checkbox allows the physiotherapist to choose the data that is printed in the first graph. When no session is selected, this graph will be empty.



Figure 5.3: Progress report shown to the physiotherapist.

Additionally, there is a drop-down list with three options: none, extension and flexion. During the interviews, some of the physiotherapists mentioned that the game had to let them change the exercises according to the patient's progress. With this drop-down menu, the physiotherapist can select if the game will focus on extension, flexion or both. For instance, when the patient has already recovered most or all the knee flexion, the game can be changed to focus only on the extension, which needs more improvement.

The last element is a picture showing an avatar's lower body. When a session is selected, the physiotherapist can play the patient's knee movement during that session in this picture. This animation can make it easier for the physiotherapist to interpret the first graph.

6

Validation of the algorithms

Two algorithms have been created for this project. The first one tries to improve the current virtual avatar calibration of the NODES System, and it was explained in chapter 4. The second algorithm converts the orientation of the sensors into angles that are later used as the input of the game, as shown in section 4. A study was performed to validate both algorithms.

The question we want to answer with these tests is how accurate and precise is the system. The initial hypothesis is that the output should be equal to the input.

Two different tests were designed for this validation, one for each algorithm. The first test studies the calibration tool and consists in calibrating the system at different angles. On the other hand, the second test examines the algorithm that converts the sensor's orientation into angles. In this test, the sensors are rotated 10° every 10 seconds until 180° have been covered.

6.1. Materials and methods

6.1.1. Materials

The materials used in both tests are three: the NODES System, two goniometers and tape to fix the goniometers to the table. Both goniometers are made of methacrylate. One of them has three degrees of freedom, while the other only moves around one axis. However, it let us replicate the movement of the leg, as the two segments can be rotated independently. The resolution of both goniometers is 1°.

6.1.2. Methods

In this section, all the information relative to the experiment is explained.

Variables and constants

The variables can be classified into three groups: independent, dependent and nuisance variables. For both tests, the independent variable is the quaternion rotation between the different sensors around the transverse axis of the body, that is, the Y-axis.

The dependent variables are the angles that the ankle and knee are bent over time, which are estimated by the algorithms. For the first test, only the knee angle matters, and it is equivalent to the sum of α and β . Additionally, in the seating position, 90° must be added.

As for the nuisance variables, the most important one is the magnetic distortion. Magnetometer calibration was performed at the beginning of each test to reduce the effect of this parameter. In addition, the experiments were done in a room with few ferromagnetic objects.

Lastly, the angular velocity when moving the goniometer and the frequency at which the sensors were rotated were almost constant.

Experimental design

The experiment consisted of two tests: one for the calibration tool and another for the algorithm that converts the sensor's orientation into angles for the game.



Figure 6.1: Setup of the experiment.

The experiment was designed considering the three possible ways to calibrate the sensors: lying, seating and standing. Additionally, the second test is also divided according to the two angles estimated by the algorithm: the angles from the lower leg to the foot and thigh, respectively.

Therefore, the first test is repeated three times, while the second one is replicated six times.

Experimental protocol

The setup for both tests can be seen in picture 6.1. The two goniometers are fixed to the table and each other using tape. The sensor representing the foot is attached to the goniometer with the three degrees of freedom, and the thigh and lower leg sensors are bound to the other goniometer.

The structure of the first test is the following. Initially, the sensors are calibrated at the calibration position. Then, we rotate 10° the thigh and lower leg sensors in opposite directions and calibrate the system again. These two steps are repeated until the sensors are rotated 90° with respect to the initial position. From here, the sensors are rotated back to the starting position in steps of 10°. The previous steps are repeated five times.

For the seating calibration pose, the sensor in the thigh is not rotated in increments of 10°. Instead, it is rotated according to equation 4.10, in chapter 4.

The second test follows a similar procedure. However, this time one sensor is rotated. To study the angle in the ankle joint, we move the foot sensor. However, to observe the knee angle, we rotate the lower leg sensor. Therefore, the test consists of the following steps. We start calibrating the system at one of the calibration poses. Then, rotate the sensor 10° and wait for 10 seconds. This is repeated until the sensor is has been rotated 180°. Due to the initial orientation of the sensors at each calibration pose and the orientation of the sensors fixed in the goniometer, the 180° range will be accomplished by rotating 90° in one direction, then going back to the start, and rotate in the other direction until we reach -90° of rotation from the initial point. All these steps are repeated five times.

The data of each type of test is saved into a text file. This file contains the quaternion orientation of each sensor and the estimated values of α and β or the ankle and knee angles, depending on the test. For the first test, only the data at the calibration is saved. In the second test, however, all the quaternions received since the avatar was calibrated are saved. Both files are saved when the main unit is disconnected.

Data processing

The data was processed using MatLab. In MatLab, the quaternions are multiplied to get the rotational difference between each other and converted into Euler angles. The values obtained from these quaternions are used as true measurements, and the values estimated by the algorithms are compared to them.

6.1.3. Statistical analysis of the data

Three statistical analysis methods were used to interpret the data recorded during the experiment. The relationship between input and output is studied using linear regression. With regression, we can find a model that will predict a certain percentage of the variance of the dependent variable. This value is called coefficient of determination and is represented as R^2 . The closer R^2 is to the unit, the better the fit is.

Additionally, the arithmetic mean of the errors in the experiment and the standard deviation are used. Studying the measurements' average error, we can have an idea about the accuracy of the algorithms, that is, the distance between a measured value and a true or accepted value. On the other hand, with the standard deviation of the error, we can find the precision of the algorithm.

Linear regression models

The relationship between input and output can be modelled as $y = b_0 + b_1 x$, being y the dependent variable, x the independent variable and b_0 and b_1 the y-intercept and regression coefficient, respectively. Ideally, b_0 should be zero, and b_1 should be equal to one.

Arithmetic Mean of the Errors

The absolute error in the measurements was calculated and then averaged using the arithmetic mean, which is the sum of all the values of the data divided by the total number of data points.

$$\bar{x} = \frac{1}{n} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\tilde{x}_i - x_i|$$
(6.1)

where \overline{x} is the mean, *n* is the length of the dataset and x_i and \tilde{x}_i are the actual and estimated measurements at index *i*.

When the true value of the measurement is close to zero, the absolute error is shorter. However, when the value of the measurement grows, the absolute error is larger too. For that reason, it is necessary to see the relative error, which gives us the error in the measurement as a percentage of the true value.

Standard Deviation

After calculating the mean, we can see how much the measurements spread around the average absolute error. To compute the value of the standard deviation *s*, we use the following formula:

$$s = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i - \overline{x}|^2}$$
(6.2)

The standard deviation is related to the uncertainty and precision of the measurement. When its value is small, the samples in the dataset are close to the mean value. Therefore, the measurement's consistency and precision are high. On the other hand, when the deviation in the data grows, the measurement's uncertainty increases too.

6.2. Discussion

6.2.1. Interpretation of the results

The analysis of the data recording using the statistical methods mentioned above gave us the following results. Figure 6.2 shows the regression of the two different tests. The second test is at the same time plotted in two graphs for ankle and knee angle, respectively.

If we look at the absolute errors of each test shown in figure 6.3, we can see that the amplitude of the errors in the calibration test is smaller than for the other two tests. However, its mean absolute error is higher than in the other cases, which can be seen in table 6.1. Another aspect that can be observed from these graphs is that the error has a periodic form. This is due to the procedure of the experiment.

It can be seen how the data samples with a high absolute error, on the contrary, have a low relative error. At the same time, the biggest values of the relative error correspond to small absolute errors, as the true value of the measurement is close to zero.



Figure 6.2: Linear regression relationship between true and estimated measurements of each test. Picture a) corresponds to the calibration algorithm test, and b) and c) correspond to the tests performed to validate the algorithm that estimates the ankle and knee angles, respectively.



Figure 6.3: Absolute and relative errors of each test. Picture a) corresponds to the calibration algorithm test, and b) and c) correspond to the tests performed to validate the algorithm that estimates the ankle and knee angles, respectively.

Mean Errors				
	test cal	test ankle	test knee	total
seating	1.9461°	1.5141°	0.9103°	1.1960°
lying	1.4284°	0.8091°	1.9182°	1.3233°
standing	2.5977°	1.5571°	1.2593°	1.2188°
total	1.9863°	1.2403°	1.2414°	1.2504°

Table 6.1: Average error of each test.

Standard deviations				
	test cal	test ankle	test knee	total
seating	1.3010°	1.1086°	1.15658°	1.1738°
lying	1.0482°	0.7154°	2.1913°	1.6749°
standing	1.5041°	1.0473°	0.3897°	0.8260°
total	1.3712°	1.0133°	1.5289°	1.3016°

Table 6.2: Standard deviation of the error of each test.

Lastly, 6.2 contains the standard deviation of the error for each test. It can be seen that the models that approximate the relationship between the input and output of the experiment are close to the initial hypothesis.

The average errors of these models with respect to the true input in the range of motion shown on these graphs are 1.7966°, 0.9775° and 1.1142°, for the calibration test and second test for ankle and knee angles, respectively. Additionally, the coefficients of determination of the three models show that their fit is good, as the lowest value is 0.9991.

Therefore, we could use this model to re-scale the two algorithms and cancel their offsets. This way, the accuracy of the algorithms would be higher.

The study of the mean errors gave us a quantitative measure of the accuracy of the algorithms. If we look at table 6.1, we see that the experiments show that the algorithms have an accuracy of $\pm 1.2504^{\circ}$. On the other hand, estimating the standard deviation of the experiment, we found that the fluctuation in the estimated values was $\pm 1.3016^{\circ}$. This can be seen in table 6.2.

The resolution of the goniometers employed was 1°. For that reason, we have to round the previous values to their nearest integer. Therefore, we have a mean error of \pm 1° and a standard deviation of \pm 1°.

6.2.2. Limitations of the experiment

Some factors and complications occurred during the experiment that could be a source of error, and therefore the results could be invalid.

Magnetic distortions

Although the experiment took place in a room with few ferromagnetic elements, and placing the setup as far as possible of those elements, the effect of magnetic disturbances can be appreciated in the results. In the experiment, only a pitch motion is performed. However, when there are magnetic disturbances near the sensors, the readout of the magnetometer changes.

This is represented as a rotation around the yaw axis. A clear example of this behaviour happening in the experiment is shown in figure 6.4. It shows the input and output of one of the tests to validate the second algorithm. In the graph there are three lines: yaw, that is the rotation around the Z-axis, pitch, which is the rotation in the Y-axis, and the estimated value of the ankle angle.

The way the setup was designed, the estimated values should be equal to the pitch rotation, as we the sensors were rotated only around the Y-axis. We can see that the estimated value is very close to the pitch value. However, when the yaw rotation's value drifts from its initial value, the error in the estimated angle increases too. This effect is larger at $\pm 90^{\circ}$ of rotation.



Figure 6.4: Example of the effect of magnetic disturbances in the output of the system. It corresponds to one of the runs of the second test focused on the angle of the ankle.

Mechanical errors

The goniometers used could have introduced mechanical errors as the attachment of the sensors is not completely precise.

The setup

Due to the different orientations of the sensors in each calibration position, the thigh and lower leg sensors had to be detached and fixed to the goniometers each time the calibration pose was changed. Therefore, this could have introduced random errors in each test.

Number of samples

Lastly, another deficiency of the experiment is the number of samples recorded during the calibration tests. As only one sample is saved every time the calibration is performed, getting as much data as in the other test would require repeating the calibration test hundreds of times. With fewer data points, it is more difficult to differentiate the random errors from the systematic errors.

6.2.3. Conclusions

Two algorithms were created in this project: one to calibrate the virtual avatar and another to translate the orientation of the sensors into angles. They were tested in an experiment to validate both algorithms. It consisted of three different tests, one for the calibration tool and two for the estimation of the angle between the leg segments. Additionally, the algorithms were tested once for each calibration pose: lying, seating and standing.

In the tests, the NODES System was attached to a pair of goniometers with a 1° resolution. The goniometers were fixed to a table using tape. The experiment consisted in rotating the sensors attached to the goniometers to simulate the different angles that the three limbs can form with each other.

The results were analysed using three statistical methods: linear regression models, arithmetic mean and standard deviation of the errors. The first method gave us several models that can be used to re-scaled the output of the algorithms and cancel their offsets. Then, with the mean value of the errors, we saw how accurate the system is. Finally, the standard deviation provided a quantitative measure of the system's precision. In the end, the results showed that the whole system has an inaccuracy of $\pm 1^{\circ}$ and a precision of $\pm 1^{\circ}$.

Voluntarily tests and questionnaires

The game and calibration tool were tested in healthy volunteers from 2M Engineering. These tests were used with two goals in mind. First, to see how well does the proposed calibration work in a setup. Then, to assess the clarity of the user interface and the playability and entertainment of the game. This subjective assessment is evaluated through a questionnaire that the volunteers filled after the test.

The test consisted of two parts. First, the new calibration algorithm was tested. The participants were asked to sit and keep the posture for 10 seconds to calibrate the virtual avatar. Then, they could move for another ten seconds and see if the avatar was following their movements. These two steps were repeated five times with different initial knee angles. In the second part of the study, the participants played the game once.

Additionally, two questionnaires for physiotherapists and patients were made. The first questionnaire was sent to the people that were interviewed for the literature research. The other test was shared among their patients and on social media, so people who have had knee surgery could fill it.

7.1. Calibration test

At the beginning of the each test, the initial seating position of the participant was photographed before calibrating. This was done to measured the initial angle of the knee. The data from the sensors was also saved in a file containing the orientation of each sensor over time in quaternion form.

Even though there are three calibration poses, only the seating position was tested. The reason is that to calculate the angles of the thigh and lower leg in this position, we had to make one more assumption.

From the pictures, the angle between the thigh and lower leg was measured using *ImageJ*, a computer programme for image processing. Then, the quaternion of the sensor in the lower leg was used to obtain the angle between the virtual thigh and lower leg, according to the algorithm described in chapter 4. The errors in the calibration of the virtual avatar can be found in figure 7.1. The line graph shows the absolute error of each sample and the mean value, while the bar plot shows the average error for each participant.

We can see how the error varies from person to person. There are two reasons for that. The first factor is the positioning of the sensor in the lower leg. This sensor acts as the reference sensor, and the algorithm expects that its position is as accurate as possible. Therefore, each participant could have introduced a different error when placing the sensors on the body.

The second and most important reason is the height of the participant. One of the hypotheses of the algorithm is that, in the seating position, the seat is at popliteal height. However, the experiment was performed in the same seat and with the same height for all the volunteers. Indeed, this was done to see how would the error of the algorithm grow when this hypothesis was not met.

There were some participants that were taller than the rest, to whom the seat was too low. In that case, the thigh was not parallel to the floor as the algorithm assumes, and an error is introduced. This problem could also have happened with shorter participants, that in order to touch the floor with their feet, they would have needed to rotate the thigh closer to the floor.

Additionally, another possible issue was the movement of the sensors between measurements, as the silicone rubber used to attached the NODES System can leave some space for sensors to move in the user does not place them straighten enough.



Figure 7.1: Errors in the calibration during the voluntarily tests.

7.2. Test of the game

Each participant was asked to play the game once. They had to log in, calibrate the system and record their range of motion first. Then, they learned the controls of the game and play. Finally, they saw their progress report.

In general, they were able to proceed without help. However, most participants experienced difficulties playing the game, partly because they could not get used to the controls. Additionally, they got stuck at some sharp curves.

To know their opinion about the game and their satisfaction, they were asked to fill in an online questionnaire after playing. The survey, which can be seen in appendix C.1, contains nine linear scale questions and four open-ended questions. The questions are related to six aspects of the game: user interface, calibration, controls of the game, entertainment, physical demand and progress report.

The participants found the user interface intuitive, although only half of them thought that the user interface was helpful during the game.

Almost all of the participants reported that it was absolutely easy to connect and calibrate the sensors. Regarding the controller, for half of the participants, the controls were clear. However, in general, it was difficult for them to get used to them.

Almost all of the participants completely enjoyed playing the game, although they said it was slightly tiring.

Lastly, they found the progress report very helpful for the patient but moderately clear to understand. In the open-ended question, some participants expressed how lifting the foot was quite straining after a while. Additionally, one of them would have liked to practice the controls before the actual game.

7.3. Physiotherapists' responses

The four people that were interviewed during the literature review phase were contacted again, and they were asked to fill in a survey with six open-ended questions. This questionnaire can be seen in appendix C.2. At the beginning of the form, there is a link to a video that shows the game developed. It shows first how a patient connects the sensors, play and sees their report. Then, it displays the physiotherapist's user interface and how they can see the patient's progress.

We wanted to know if they think that the game would indeed help and motivate their patients, if they would progress using the game, if it would reduce the number of check-up visits, and their opinions about the report shown to both the patient and physiotherapist.

All interviewees think that the game would surely make the patient practice more at home and progress playing it. The reason for that is its playful component. If the difficulty of the game is adjusted to the patient, they think that the game will stimulate them to exercise more and to reach bigger ROMs.

All of them answered that the report shown to the patient is adequate. According to them, it makes sense with the type of exercise that is done in the game, and it clearly shows the goal of the rehabilitation, the progress made and the evolution over time.

50% of the interviewees said that they would agree to see less frequently their patients using the game only at certain phases of the rehabilitation. The reason is that the game focuses only on improving the range of motion. However, this is not the only relevant aspect of the rehabilitation process. The strength or the new neurological adaptations need to be trained too. Therefore, the patient has to continue visiting the physiotherapist. The other 50% do not agree with reducing the number of visits, because they prefer to control their patients as much as possible.

Lastly, they all think that the information shown to them in the patient report could be used as additional help but never as the only reference.

7.4. Patients' responses

We wanted to know the opinion of people who had knee surgery too. For that reason, another questionnaire was made, where patients are asked if they think that they will practice more at home having the game, if they would agree to reduce the number of appointments with the physiotherapist, if the game would motivate them, about the difficulty of the game, if they would like to have several games instead of one and about the progress report. In this case, the questions were multiple-choice, except for the last one that is an open-ended question. The survey can be found in appendix C.3

At the beginning of this questionnaire, there is also a link to a video, but this video shows only the patient's user interface.

The questionnaire was shared among the interviewees' patients and on social media. By the time this report was written, 24 people had answered it.

66.7% of the people answered that they would practice more at home, and only 16.7% of them said they would not do it. Regarding the check-up visits, 41.7% of the patients would agree to reduce them, although there are more people that either said the are not sure (33.3%) or that they would not do it (25%).

There is a clear majority of people (66.7%) that think that the game will increase their motivation. There is also an agreement regarding the difficulty of the game, which 58.3% of the people would like it to increase during the rehabilitation. Regarding the number of games, there is not a majority in neither of the answers. 37.5% of the people answered that it is irrelevant for them, another 33.3% would like to have more games and 29.2% of them said that only one game was okay.

Lastly, less than half of the people answered the open-ended question regarding the report. 50% of them think that the information shown in the report is enough. Additionally, 50% also added that

they care more about the information provided by the physiotherapist, so for them this information is not relevant.

8

Discussion and Conclusions

8.1. Discussion

In this project, a game using motion capture sensors was developed. The motion capture system used was the NODES System, developed by 2M Engineering. The game is intended for knee rehabilitation after surgery. This orthopaedic procedure is one of the most commons, and every year there are millions of people undergoing one. However, several reasons make the injured people never recovered the pre-injury state, like the cost of the rehabilitation and the loss of motivation and the discouragement produced by the rehabilitation program, which is very repetitive.

The principle of gamification was followed to solve those problems and improve the outcomes of the rehabilitation of those patients. Thus, a serious game was created to motivate those patients to continue practising the exercises and accelerate their rehabilitations. Together with the game, a new calibration tool for the NODES System and a reporting system were implemented to accomplish the project's goals.

During the initial phase of the thesis, a literature research was done. This review was used to select the best methods and options to create the game. Some aspects that were studied were the ideal sensor fusion algorithm for this project, the type of exercises and parameters that should be trained and the information to show in the progress report. Additionally, several interviews with physiotherapists completed the knowledge gained in the state-of-the-art review. With all that, we could decide each aspect of the game.

In the end, the concept chosen for the game was a karting game where the patient competes against other characters to be the first one to finish the race. The game is controlled using three sensors place in the thigh, lower leg and foot, respectively. The bending of the ankle accelerates and brakes the character while bending the knee makes it turn left or right. An algorithm was implemented to achieve that. It translates the angle of the knee and ankle in standard inputs for the game. This algorithm takes into account the patient's knee range of motion and only turns the kart when the angle is close to the peak extension or flexion.

The application created has two different user interfaces: one for patients and one for physiotherapists. It implements a database that manages both types of users and, depending on the type of user that logs in, it shows one interface or the other.

The patient's user interface consists of seven screens: the main menu, a screen to calibrate the sensors and virtual avatar, the controller guide, the game, the progress report and a menu to change the password. From the main menu, the patient can go to any of those screens or back to the start menu of the application. Every time the patient starts the application and wants to play, they need to calibrate the sensors first. Right after that, the current range of motion of the patient is recorded. It will be used to adjust the controls of the game to the physical status of the patient. When the patient finishes playing the game and comes back to the patient's main menu, the data recorded during the game is saved in two files on the device. This data will be loaded when either the patient or the physiotherapist want to see the progress report.

On the other hand, the physiotherapist's user interface consists of just three screens. In the main menu, there is a list showing their patients. Each line of the list has the patient's name and a check

box. When this checkbox is checked, the physiotherapist can delete the patient from the database or see their report. Finally, physiotherapists can also create new patients.

The progress reports are different for each user, too. The patient's report has three elements. The first one is a bar graph with the improvements in degrees made over the sessions. It also contains two progress bars showing how far is the patient from achieving the maximum extension and flexion values. Lastly, there is an ordered list with the fastest lap times of the patient. In the bar plot and the progress bars, two different colours are used to clearly distinguish the progress made in the current session from the one made in previous days.

On the other hand, the physiotherapist's report has two line graphs, one with the movement of the patient's knee during a session and the other graph with the change of the peak and mean maximum values of both extension and flexion over the sessions. Apart from that, there is a list with all the sessions so the physiotherapist can select which session is plotted in the first graph, and a picture of the avatar's lower body where the physiotherapist can see animated the movement of the patient during the selected session.

The current calibration method of the NODES System was improved, as it had some limitations. The new algorithm to calibrate the virtual avatar introduces a new step at the beginning, where it takes the predefined calibration pose ojselected by the user and updates each leg segment's position according to the orientation of the sensor in the lower leg. For that to work, the sensor must be attached as accurate as possible to the desired position. This algorithm works for the three poses that a patient with knee surgery can adopt: lying position for the initial phase of the rehabilitation, seating position when the patient has recovered enough mobility, and standing position, possible when the patient has enough strength and extension.

In order to validate the two algorithms created, two different tests were performed, one for each algorithm. The setup of the experiment consisted of two goniometers and the NODES System. The results showed that the system has an average error of $\pm 1^{\circ}$ and a standard deviation of $\pm 1^{\circ}$. In the interviews with physiotherapists that took place during the literature research phase, it was found that they were more concerned about the precision of the system rather than its accuracy and resolution. Provided the precision of the system found in the experiment, it can be seen that the system meets the requirements of the health professionals. Additionally, it is important to compare the proposed calibration algorithm with the previous one. The mean error of our algorithm was $\pm 2^{\circ}$. On the other hand, the original algorithm did not update the pose of the virtual avatar, so the error in the calibration would be at least the sum of α and β . This confirms that the calibration algorithm proposed in this project is more accurate than the previous one.

The calibration tool, game and reporting system were assessed in a study with volunteers from 2M Engineering and a survey with physiotherapists and patients. The participants of the study were used to test the calibration tool first. In the test, the participant had to seat and calibrate the sensors several times, changing the flexion of the knee every time. This was done to see the performance of the calibration algorithm in a real setup. We saw that the assumption of the seat being at the knee height has a big effect on the calibration. As the seat was the same for everybody, the error in the measurement was greater when the participant was taller than the other people.

After testing the calibration tool, the volunteers played the game and filled a questionnaire. The goal of this survey was to gather the opinion of the people who had tried the game. They were positive about the game, the user interface and the progress report, but had problems with the controls and the difficulty of the game.

Lastly, two more questionnaires were prepared. The first one was sent to the physiotherapists that were interviewed before. In general, they were happy with the results. They think that it would surely help patients to get motivated and to exercise more. They also praised the reporting system. However, even though they liked the game and the progress report, they still think the game should be used only as an accessory tool. The second questionnaire was shared between the interviewees' patients and on social media, so people that had gone through knee surgery could assess this game. Their answers were similar to what the physiotherapists reported. In general, they think that it would motivate and help patients in their rehabilitation. However, they would prefer to receive the progress report from their physiotherapists, so they do not care that much about the information shown in the game.

8.2. Conclusions

In this thesis, a post-surgery rehabilitation game was created after a state-of-the-art research and a survey to gather the opinion of several physiotherapists. The game was successfully tested in healthy volunteers from 2M, as the existing COVID-19 measures did not allow for tests in patients.

Additionally, it was validated with an experiment that evaluated the performance of the two algorithms created. Its results showed that the system has an accuracy of $\pm 1^{\circ}$ and precision of $\pm 1^{\circ}$.

The game, calibration tool and reporting system were assessed thanks to the people who tried the game, and also thanks to physiotherapists and patients, who answered a questionnaire that was created specifically for each of them.

The positive feedback received in the surveys demonstrated that the game is a promising tool to use together with traditional rehabilitation, and that it could fulfil our goal of accelerating the rehabilitation of these patients.

8.3. Future work

After the validation of the data, the voluntarily study and the answers to the questionnaires of patients and physiotherapists it was clear that there are several aspects of the game that could be improved.

- Most of the volunteers found the controls of the game complicated and the game a bit tiring. The relationship between turning and bending the knee is difficult to grasp, especially at the beginning. Two things can be done to solve this problem. One solution would be to add a menu where the patient can practise without any obstacles could help them get used to it before playing the actual game. Indeed, this was suggested by one of the volunteers and could be easily implemented by adding a new screen or by modifying the current controller guide menu. Another option would be to change the camera view. For instance, by putting the camera on top of the patient's character and rotating it 90°. From this perspective, turning would be equivalent to moving up or down. This movement in the game can be easily related to extending and flexing the knee, as those knee exercises are like a vertical movement from the patient's perspective.
- The difficulty of the game might be too high. This problem can be solved by designing more tracks with different lengths and number of sharp curves, and by tuning the speed, acceleration and similar parameters of the player's character.
- A wrong seat height can have a large negative effect on the calibration of the avatar. This problem is more difficult to solve, but one possible solution is to include a dynamic step in the calibration protocol. This new step could consist in moving the leg from side to side and up and down. That way, we could correct the misalignment of the error in the thigh. Then, we could use the corrected orientation of this sensor to rotate the thigh instead of using the angle estimated with the orientation of the sensor in the lower leg.
- The system could be improved by adding more features, be it more race modes or multiple games. It would not only satisfy those patients who requested more games, but it would also allow us to introduce more exercises. Therefore, it would make the game an even better tool for their rehabilitation.

Bibliography

- [1] Marcel Admiraal, Samuel Wilson, and Ravi Vaidyanathan. Improved formulation of the imu and marg orientation gradient descent algorithm for motion tracking in human-machine interfaces. 2017 IEEE International Conference on Multisensor Fusion and Integration for Intelligent Systems (MFI), 2017. doi: 10.1109/mfi.2017.8170354.
- [2] Nuray Akkaya, Fusun Ardic, Merih Ozgen, Semih Akkaya, Fusun Sahin, and Alper Kilic. Efficacy of electromyographic biofeedback and electrical stimulation following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 26(3):224–236, 2011. doi: 10.1177/0269215511419382.
- [3] Nicholas Bellamy, W Watson Buchanan, Charles H Goldsmith, Jane Campbell, and Larry W Stitt. Validation study of womac: a health status instrument for measuring clinically important patient relevant outcomes to antirheumatic drug therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 1988.
- [4] Sami Bennour, Baptiste Ulrich, Thomas Legrand, Brigitte M. Jolles, and Julien Favre. A gait retraining system using augmented-reality to modify footprint parameters: Effects on lower-limb sagittal-plane kinematics. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 66:26–35, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech. 2017.10.030.
- [5] Elena Bergamini, Gabriele Ligorio, Aurora Summa, Giuseppe Vannozzi, Aurelio Cappozzo, and Angelo Sabatini. Estimating orientation using magnetic and inertial sensors and different sensor fusion approaches: Accuracy assessment in manual and locomotion tasks. *Sensors*, 14(10): 18625–18649, 2014. doi: 10.3390/s141018625.
- [6] J. Gordon Betts, Peter Desaix, Eddie Johnson, Jody E. Johnson, Oksana Korol, Dean Kruse, Brandon Poe, James Wise, Mark D. Womble, Kelly A. Young, and et al. Anatomy & physiology, fig.9.19 Knee Joint English labels. OpenStax College, Rice University, 2013. URL https://openstax.org/books/anatomy-and-physiology/pages/9-6-anatomy-of-selected-synovial-joints.
- [7] S. Bonnet, C. Bassompierre, C. Godin, S. Lesecq, and A. Barraud. Calibration methods for inertial and magnetic sensors. *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, 156(2):302–311, 2009. doi: 10.1016/ j.sna.2009.10.008.
- [8] Sveinbjörn Brandsson, Bengt Rydgren, Thomas Hedner, Olof Lundin, Leif Sward, and Jon Karlsson. Postoperative analgesic effects of an external cooling system and intra-articular bupivacaine/morphine after arthroscopic cruciate ligament surgery. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 4(4):200–205, 1996. doi: 10.1007/bf01567963.
- [9] G. Burdea. Virtual rehabilitation benefits and challenges. Yearbook of Medical Informatics, 12 (01):170–176, 2003. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1638156.
- [10] Xavier Capdevila, Yves Barthelet, Philippe Biboulet, Yves Ryckwaert, Josh Rubenovitch, and Francoise Dathis. Effects of perioperative analgesic technique on the surgical outcome and duration of rehabilitation after major knee surgery. *Anesthesiology*, 91(1):8–15, 1999. doi: 10.1097/00000542-199907000-00006.
- [11] J Carmack, 2013. URL https://danluu.com/latency-mitigation/.
- [12] M. Caruso, A. M. Sabatini, M. Knaflitz, M. Gazzoni, U. Della Croce, and A. Cereatti. Accuracy of the orientation estimate obtained using four sensor fusion filters applied to recordings of magnetoinertial sensors moving at three rotation rates. 2019 41st Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2019. doi: 10.1109/embc.2019. 8857655.

- [13] A. Cavallo, A. Cirillo, P. Cirillo, G. De Maria, P. Falco, C. Natale, and S. Pirozzi. Experimental comparison of sensor fusion algorithms for attitude estimation. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 47 (3):7585–7591, 2014. doi: 10.3182/20140824-6-za-1003.01173.
- [14] Zoe Y. S. Chan, Aislinn J. C. Macphail, Ivan P. H. Au, Janet H. Zhang, Ben M. F. Lam, Reed Ferber, and Roy T. H. Cheung. Walking with head-mounted virtual and augmented reality devices: Effects on position control and gait biomechanics. *Plos One*, 14(12), 2019. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0225972.
- [15] Ki Hun Cho, Kyoung Jin Lee, and Chang Ho Song. Virtual-reality balance training with a videogame system improves dynamic balance in chronic stroke patients. *The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 228(1):69–74, 2012. doi: 10.1620/tjem.228.69.
- [16] Jan-Dierk Clausen, Niclas Nahen, Hauke Horstmann, Florian Lasch, Werner Krutsch, Christian Krettek, and Thomas Sanjay Weber-Spickschen. Improving maximal strength in the initial postoperative phase after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: Randomized controlled trial of an app-based serious gaming approach. *JMIR Serious Games*, 8(1), 2020. doi: 10.2196/14282.
- [17] Kenneth E. Dehaven, William A. Lohrer, and James E. Lovelock. Long-term results of open meniscal repair. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 23(5):524–530, 1995. doi: 10.1177/ 036354659502300502.
- [18] Y. Dong. Mems inertial navigation systems for aircraft. *MEMS for Automotive and Aerospace Applications*, page 177–219, 2013. doi: 10.1533/9780857096487.2.177.
- [19] Marty E. Eastlack, Michael J. Axe, and Lynn Snyder-Mackler. Laxity, instability, and functional outcome after acl injury: copers versus noncopers. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 31 (2):210–215, 1999. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199902000-00002.
- [20] M. Euston, P. Coote, R. Mahony, Jonghyuk Kim, and T. Hamel. A complementary filter for attitude estimation of a fixed-wing uav. 2008 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, 2008. doi: 10.1109/iros.2008.4650766.
- [21] Bingfei Fan, Qingguo Li, and Tao Liu. How magnetic disturbance influences the attitude and heading in magnetic and inertial sensor-based orientation estimation. *Sensors*, 18(2):76, 2017. doi: 10.3390/s18010076.
- [22] Sven Feil, John Newell, Conor Minogue, and Hans H. Paessler. The effectiveness of supplementing a standard rehabilitation program with superimposed neuromuscular electrical stimulation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39(6):1238– 1247, 2011. doi: 10.1177/0363546510396180.
- [23] Kaiqiang Feng, Jie Li, Xiaoming Zhang, Chong Shen, Yu Bi, Tao Zheng, and Jun Liu. A new quaternion-based kalman filter for real-time attitude estimation using the two-step geometricallyintuitive correction algorithm. *Sensors*, 17(9):2146, 2017. doi: 10.3390/s17092146.
- [24] Diarmaid Fitzgerald, John Foody, Dan Kelly, Tomas Ward, Charles Markham, John Mcdonald, and Brian Caulfield. Development of a wearable motion capture suit and virtual reality biofeedback system for the instruction and analysis of sports rehabilitation exercises. 2007 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2007. doi: 10.1109/iembs.2007.4353431.
- [25] Demoz Gebre-Egziabher, Gabriel H. Elkaim, J. David Powell, and Bradford W. Parkinson. Calibration of strapdown magnetometers in magnetic field domain. *Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, 19(2):87–102, 2006. doi: 10.1061/(asce)0893-1321(2006)19:2(87).
- [26] Silvia Gianola, Elena Stucovitz, Greta Castellini, Mariangela Mascali, Francesco Vanni, Irene Tramacere, Giuseppe Banfi, and Davide Tornese. Effects of early virtual reality-based rehabilitation in patients with total knee arthroplasty. *Medicine*, 99(7), 2020. doi: 10.1097/md. 000000000019136.

- [27] Alli Gokeler. *Motor control after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction*. PhD thesis, University of Groningen, 2015.
- [28] Alli Gokeler, Marsha Bisschop, Gregory D. Myer, Anne Benjaminse, Pieter U. Dijkstra, Helco G. Van Keeken, Jos J. A. M. Van Raay, Johannes G. M. Burgerhof, and Egbert Otten. Immersive virtual reality improves movement patterns in patients after acl reconstruction: implications for enhanced criteria-based return-to-sport rehabilitation. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 24(7):2280–2286, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00167-014-3374-x.
- [29] Soungkyun Hong and Gyuchang Lee. Effects of an immersive virtual reality environment on muscle strength, proprioception, balance, and gait of a middle-aged woman who had total knee replacement: A case report. *American Journal of Case Reports*, 20:1636–1642, 2019. doi: 10.12659/ajcr.918521.
- [30] Theo Jaspers, Jan Taeymans, Anja Hirschmüller, Heiner Baur, Roger Hilfiker, and Slavko Rogan. Continuous passive motion does improve range of motion, pain and swelling after acl reconstruction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Zeitschrift für Orthopädie und Unfallchirurgie*, 157 (03):279–291, 2018. doi: 10.1055/a-0710-5127.
- [31] Chi Jin, Yongjian Feng, Yongjian Ni, and Zhonglin Shan. Virtual reality intervention in postoperative rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty: a prospective and randomized controlled clinical trial. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 2018(11):6119–6124, 2018. URL http://www.ijcem.com/files/ijcem0067965.pdf.
- [32] Gregory Kontadakis, Dimitrios Chasiouras, Despoina Proimaki, Manolis Halkiadakis, Maria Fyntikaki, and Katerina Mania. Gamified platform for rehabilitation after total knee replacement surgery employing low cost and portable inertial measurement sensor node. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 79(5-6):3161–3188, 2018. doi: 10.1007/s11042-018-6572-6.
- [33] Vladimir Kubelka and Michal Reinstein. Complementary filtering approach to orientation estimation using inertial sensors only. 2012 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, 2012. doi: 10.1109/icra.2012.6224564.
- [34] Alberto Leardini, Giada Lullini, Sandro Giannini, Lisa Berti, Maurizio Ortolani, and Paolo Caravaggi. Validation of the angular measurements of a new inertial-measurement-unit based rehabilitation system: comparison with state-of-the-art gait analysis. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 11(1):136, 2014. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-136.
- [35] Minyoung Lee, Dongwon Suh, Jaebum Son, Jungjin Kim, Seon-Deok Eun, and Bumchul Yoon. Patient perspectives on virtual reality-based rehabilitation after knee surgery: Importance of level of difficulty. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 53(2):239–252, 2016. doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2014.07.0164.
- [36] Scott M. Lephart, Mininder S. Kocher, Christopher D. Harner, and Freddie H. Fu. Quadriceps strength and functional capacity after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 21(5):738–743, 1993. doi: 10.1177/036354659302100519.
- [37] Chun-De Liao, Jau-Yih Tsauo, Shih-Wei Huang, Hung-Chou Chen, Yen-Shuo Chiu, and Tsan-Hon Liou. Preoperative range of motion and applications of continuous passive motion predict outcomes after knee arthroplasty in patients with arthritis. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 27(4):1259–1269, 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00167-018-5257-z.
- [38] Simone A. Ludwig and Kaleb D. Burnham. Comparison of euler estimate using extended kalman filter, madgwick and mahony on quadcopter flight data. 2018 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS), 2018. doi: 10.1109/icuas.2018.8453465.
- [39] Mingxing Lyu, Wei-Hai Chen, Xilun Ding, Jianhua Wang, Zhongcai Pei, and Baochang Zhang. Development of an emg-controlled knee exoskeleton to assist home rehabilitation in a game context. *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, 13, 2019. doi: 10.3389/fnbot.2019.00067.

- [40] S. O. H. Madgwick, A. J. L. Harrison, and R. Vaidyanathan. Estimation of imu and marg orientation using a gradient descent algorithm. 2011 IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, 2011. doi: 10.1109/icorr.2011.5975346.
- [41] Robert Mahony, Tarek Hamel, and Jean-Michel Pflimlin. Nonlinear complementary filters on the special orthogonal group. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 53(5):1203–1218, 2008. doi: 10.1109/tac.2008.923738.
- [42] Bernhard Maurer, Fabian Bergner, Peter Kober, and Rene Baumgartner. Improving rehabilitation process after total knee replacement surgery through visual feedback and enhanced communication in a serious game. *Proceedings of the 30th ACM international conference on Design of communication - SIGDOC 12*, 2012. doi: 10.1145/2379057.2379124.
- [43] Rian Mcgough, Kade Paterson, Elizabeth J Bradshaw, Adam L Bryant, and Ross A Clark. Improving lower limb weight distribution asymmetry during the squat using nintendo wii balance boards and real-time feedback. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 26(1):47–52, 2012. doi: 10.1519/jsc.0b013e318220b515.
- [44] Schünke Michael. Thieme atlas of anatomy. Thieme, 2005.
- [45] Ryan L. Mizner, Stephanie C. Petterson, and Lynn Snyder-Mackler. Quadriceps strength and the time course of functional recovery after total knee arthroplasty. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 35(7):424–436, 2005. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2005.35.7.424.
- [46] Takeshi Muneta, Hideyuki Koga, Tomoyuki Mochizuki, Young-Jin Ju, Kenji Hara, Akimoto Nimura, Kazuyoshi Yagishita, and Ichiro Sekiya. A prospective randomized study of 4-strand semitendinosus tendon anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction comparing single-bundle and doublebundle techniques. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 23(6):618–628, 2007. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2007.04.010.
- [47] Milad Nazarahari and Hossein Rouhani. 40 years of sensor fusion for orientation tracking via magnetic and inertial measurement units: Methods, lessons learned, and future challenges. *Information Fusion*, 68:67–84, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.inffus.2020.10.018.
- [48] J.j. Negus, D.p. Cawthorne, J.s. Chen, C.j. Scholes, D.a. Parker, and L.m. March. Patient outcomes using wii-enhanced rehabilitation after total knee replacement – the tkr-power study. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 40:47–53, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2014.11.007.
- [49] OECD. Health at a Glance 2019. OECD Publishing, 2019. doi: https://doi.org/https: //doi.org/10.1787/4dd50c09-en. URL https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/ publication/4dd50c09-en.
- [50] Beatrice Ottiger, Erwin Van Wegen, Katja Keller, Tobias Nef, Thomas Nyffeler, Gert Kwakkel, and Tim Vanbellingen. Getting into a "flow" state: a systematic review of flow experience in neurological diseases. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 18(1), 2021. doi: 10.1186/s12984-021-00864-w.
- [51] D. R. Paez-Ardila, L. M. Parra-Navarro, and S. A. Salinas. Serious game for rehabilitation of meniscus injury using a prototype of orthosis. 2013 Pan American Health Care Exchanges (PAHCE), 2013. doi: 10.1109/pahce.2013.6568265.
- [52] Lonnie Paulos, Frank R. Noyes, Edward Grood, and David L. Butler. Knee rehabilitation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and repair. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 9 (3):140–149, 1981. doi: 10.1177/036354658100900303.
- [53] Lonnie E. Paulos, Daniel C. Wnorowski, and Charles L. Beck. Rehabilitation following knee surgery. Sports Medicine, 11(4):257–275, 1991. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199111040-00005.
- [54] Nguyen Ho Quoc Phuong, Hee-Jun Kang, Young-Soo Suh, and Young-Sik Ro. A dcm based orientation estimation algorithm with an inertial measurement unit and a magnetic compass. *Journal* of Universal Computer Science, 15(4):859–876, feb 2009. doi: 10.3217/jucs-015-04-0859.

- [55] Yang Qiu, Kun Man Li, Eng Chuan Neoh, Huiguo Zhang, Xin Yue Khaw, Xiuyi Fan, and Chunyan Miao. Fun-knee™: A novel smart knee sleeve for total-knee-replacement rehabilitation with gamification. 2017 IEEE 5th International Conference on Serious Games and Applications for Health (SeGAH), 2017. doi: 10.1109/segah.2017.7939284.
- [56] Giuseppe Riva, Fabrizia Mantovani, and Andrea Gaggioli. Presence and rehabilitation: toward second-generation virtual reality applications in neuropsychology. *Journal of NeuroEngineering* and Rehabilitation, 1(1):9, 2004. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-1-9.
- [57] Thiago Braga Rodrigues, Ciarán Ó Catháin, Noel E. O'Connor, and Niall Murray. A quality of experience assessment of haptic and augmented reality feedback modalities in a gait analysis system. *Plos One*, 15(3), 2020. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0230570.
- [58] Ewa M Roos, Harald P Roos, L Stefan Lohmander, Charlotte Ekdahl, and Bruce D Beynnon. Knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score (koos)—development of a self-administered outcome measure. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 28(2):88–96, 1998.
- [59] Michael B. Del Rosario, Nigel H. Lovell, and Stephen J. Redmond. Quaternion-based complementary filter for attitude determination of a smartphone. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 16(15):6008–6017, 2016. doi: 10.1109/jsen.2016.2574124.
- [60] Capt Michael Ross and Teddy W. Worrell. Thigh and calf girth following knee injury and surgery. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 27(1):9–15, 1998. doi: 10.2519/jospt.1998. 27.1.9.
- [61] Alberto Ruffilli, Roberto Buda, Francesco Castagnini, Daniela Di Nicolantonio, Giulia Evangelisti, Sandro Giannini, and Cesare Faldini. Temperature-controlled continuous cold flow device versus traditional icing regimen following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a prospective randomized comparative trial. *Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery*, 135(10):1405–1410, 2015. doi: 10.1007/s00402-015-2273-z.
- [62] E.-H. Shin and N. El-Sheimy. A new calibration method for strapdown inertial navigation systems. Z. Vermess, 127(1):1–10, 2002. cited By 61.
- [63] Reed A C Siemieniuk, Ian A Harris, Thomas Agoritsas, Rudolf W Poolman, Romina Brignardello-Petersen, Stijn Van De Velde, Rachelle Buchbinder, Martin Englund, Lyubov Lytvyn, Casey Quinlan, and et al. Arthroscopic surgery for degenerative knee arthritis and meniscal tears: a clinical practice guideline. *Bmj*, 2017. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j1982.
- [64] Gary L. Soderberg, Byron T. Ballantyne, and Lisabeth L. Kestel. Reliability of lower extremity girth measurements after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Physiotherapy Research International*, 1(1):7–16, 1996. doi: 10.1002/pri.43.
- [65] Chung-Ho Su and Ching-Hsue Cheng. Developing and evaluating creativity gamification rehabilitation system: The application of pca-anfis based emotions model. EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 12(5), 2016. doi: 10.12973/eurasia.2016.1527a.
- [66] Heidi Sveistrup. Motor rehabilitation using virtual reality. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 1(1):10, 2004. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-1-10.
- [67] Z F Syed, P Aggarwal, C Goodall, X Niu, and N El-Sheimy. A new multi-position calibration method for mems inertial navigation systems. *Measurement Science and Technology*, 18(7):1897–1907, 2007. doi: 10.1088/0957-0233/18/7/016.
- [68] Roberto Valenti, Ivan Dryanovski, and Jizhong Xiao. Keeping a good attitude: A quaternionbased orientation filter for imus and margs. *Sensors*, 15(8):19302–19330, 2015. doi: 10.3390/ s150819302.
- [69] Roberto G. Valenti, Ivan Dryanovski, and Jizhong Xiao. A linear kalman filter for marg orientation estimation using the algebraic quaternion algorithm. *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, 65(2):467–481, 2016. doi: 10.1109/tim.2015.2498998.

- [70] Ching-Jen Wang, Jih-Yang Ko, Wen-Yi Chou, Shan-Ling Hsu, Sheung-Fat Ko, Chung-Cheng Huang, and Hsueh-Wen Chang. Shockwave therapy improves anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 188(1):110–118, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2014.01. 050.
- [71] Samuel Wilson, Henry Eberle, Yoshikatsu Hayashi, Sebastian O.h. Madgwick, Alison Mcgregor, Xingjian Jing, and Ravi Vaidyanathan. Formulation of a new gradient descent marg orientation algorithm: Case study on robot teleoperation. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 130: 183–200, 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.ymssp.2019.04.064.
- [72] Samwon Yoon and Hohee Son. Effects of full immersion virtual reality training on balance and knee function in total knee replacement patients: A randomized controlled study. *Journal of Mechanics in Medicine and Biology*, 20(09):2040007, 2020. doi: 10.1142/s0219519420400072.
- [73] A.d. Young. Comparison of orientation filter algorithms for realtime wireless inertial posture tracking. 2009 Sixth International Workshop on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks, 2009. doi: 10.1109/bsn.2009.25.
- [74] Chen Yue, Xue Zhang, Yingjie Zhu, Yudong Jia, Huichao Wang, and Youwen Liu. Systematic review of three electrical stimulation techniques for rehabilitation after total knee arthroplasty. *The Journal of Arthroplasty*, 33(7):2330–2337, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2018.01.070.
- [75] W. Zhang, R.w. Moskowitz, G. Nuki, S. Abramson, R.d. Altman, N. Arden, S. Bierma-Zeinstra, K.d. Brandt, P. Croft, M. Doherty, and et al. Oarsi recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, part ii: Oarsi evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. *Osteoarthritis* and Cartilage, 16(2):137–162, 2008. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2007.12.013.

Glossary

List of Acronyms ACL Anterior Cruciate Ligament AET Active Exercise Training API **Application Programming Interface** AR Augmented Reality CF **Complementary Filter** СКС **Close Kinetic Chain Exercise** СРМ **Continuous Passive Motion Exercises** DCM **Direction Cosine Matrix** EA Euler angles EKF Extended Kalman Filter EMG Electromyography GDA Gradient Descent Algorithm HTTP Hypertext Transfer Protocol **Inertial Measurement Unit** IMU KF Kalman Filter KOOS Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score LLF Local Level Frame NCF Nonlinear Complementary Filter NPC Non-Player Character NWBB Nintendo Wii Balance Board OKC **Open Kinetic Chain Exercise** RICE Rest, Ice, Compression and Elevation ROM Range Of Motion SDI Strap-Down Integration SFA Sensor Fusion Algorithm vo Vector Observation VR Virtual Reality WOMAC Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

List of Symbols

α, β, δ and γ	Angles in the knee for the calibration algorithm
a	External non-gravitational acceleration
\overline{x}	Mean
$ au_{ankle}$	Threshold used to decide if the patient is accelerating or breaking from the ankle angle
$ au_{knee, \ 1}$	Maximum extension of the knee
$ au_{knee, 2}$	Maximum flexion of the knee
$\boldsymbol{q}_{0}, \boldsymbol{q}_{1}, \boldsymbol{q}_{2} \text{ and } \boldsymbol{q}_{3}$	Components of the quaternion
θ	Rotational difference between limbs
θ_{ankle}	Rotational difference between lower leg and ankle
θ_{knee}	Rotational difference between lower leg and thigh
$\theta_{unsigned}$	Unsigned rotational difference between limbs
\tilde{x}_i	Estimated measurement
$\vec{\omega}$	Angular velocity
ā	Linear acceleration
\vec{m}	Strength of the Earth's magnetic field
Α	Transition matrix
b	Normalized Earth's magnetic field
b_0	Y-intercept
b_1	Regression coefficient
b_a , b_ω and b_m	Biases of accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer
g	Normalized gravity vector
Н	Observation matrix
H(s)	High-pass filter gain
k	Scale of the <i>Turn</i> formula
K _k	Kalman gain
k_p	Cut-off frequency
L(s)	Low-pass filter gain
L ₁	Length of the thigh
<i>L</i> ₂	Length of the lower leg
L_3 , L_4 and L_5	Auxiliary distances
Q _K	Process noise vector covariance matrix
<i>R</i> ²	Coefficient of determination
R _k	Measurement noise vector covariance matrix

S	Standard deviation		
u_k	Control input vector		
v_k	Measurement noise vector		
W _k	Process noise vector		
x_i	True measurement		
x_k	State vector		
y_a , y_ω and y_m	Readouts of accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer, respectively		
z _k	Measurement vector		
i, j and k	Standard orthonormal basis for \mathbb{R}^3		
Accelerate, Brake and Turn Parameters of the input system			
q	Quaternion		
sign	Sign of the rotation		



System Requirements

A.1. Functional Requirements

A.1.1. Requirements for all users

- The system shall allow a user to be a patient (player).
- The system shall allow a user to be a physiotherapist (administrator).
- The system shall allow a user to log in.
- The system shall allow a user to log out.

A.1.2. Requirements for the physiotherapists

- The system shall allow a user to register a new account as an physiotherapist
- The system shall prevent a physiotherapist from creating a new user with an already existing username
- The system shall allow a physiotherapist to see the list of patients under their supervision
- · The system shall allow a physiotherapist to add a new patient to the database
- · The system shall allow a physiotherapist to remove a patient from the database
- · The system shall allow a physiotherapist to access a patient's progress data
- The system shall allow a physiotherapist to select the training session that is displayed in the report
- · The system shall allow a physiotherapist to set the training parameters of a patient

A.1.3. Requirements for the patients

- · The system shall allow a patient to connect the sensors
- · The system shall allow a patient to play the game
- · The system shall allow a patient to see their progress
- · The system shall allow a patient to change their password
- · The system shall allow a patient to select a device
- · The system shall allow a patient to select a calibration pose
- · The system shall allow a patient to connect to a selected device
- · The system shall allow a patient to calibrate the magnetometers of the sensors

- The system shall allow a patient to calibrate the virtual avatar
- · The system shall save the current range of motion of the ankle joint of a patient
- The system shall save the current range of motion of the knee joint of a patient
- · The system shall display an avatar following the movements of a patient
- · The system shall allow a patient to control the avatar with their leg
- · The system shall allow a patient to accelerate by extending their ankle
- · The system shall allow a patient to brake by flexing their ankle
- The system shall allow a patient to turn right by extending their knee
- · The system shall allow a patient to turn left by extending their knee
- · The system shall show the number of laps a patient has made
- · The system shall increase the number of laps when a patient finishes a lap
- · The system shall show the position of a patient
- The system shall update the position of a patient when there they pass or are passed by an AI player
- · The system shall show the lap time of a patient
- The system shall reset to zero the lap time of a patient when a patient finishes a lap
- The system shall respawn a player at the middle of the road when the player falls to the water
- · The system shall detect a collision between two players
- The system shall detect a collision between a player and an object in the environment
- The system shall detect when a player is driving in the opposite direction and rotate it to face the correct direction
- The system shall end the game when a player finishes three laps
- The system shall prevent a patient from moving the car when the game is finished
- The system shall destroy an AI player when the game is finished or when it completes the last lap
- The system shall display the final position and best time of a patient when the game is finished
- · The system shall allow a patient to play again
- The system shall allow a patient to go back to the main menu
- The system shall save the data recorded by the sensors when a patient finishes the game

A.2. Nonfunctional Requirements

- The system must have a simple and intuitive user interface. Texts should have large font sizes and explain the function of the elements in the user interface they refer to.
- The system must work for different display resolutions. The elements in the user interface should keep the same position and relative size when the resolution of the device changes.
- The average frame rate must be greater than 60.
- The average response time between click and reaction must be less than 0.5 seconds.
- The controls of the game must be intuitive. A player should learn how to play during their first try.
- The progress report must be clear and easy to understand. The title, axes and legend of each figure should explain the information displayed on it
- The game must be safe for the patient. The movements a patient has to perform while playing should be controlled and within their capabilities.


Informed consent form for the study

Informed Consent Form for the Study: Testing of a Game and Calibration Tool for Pre- and Post-Surgical Knee Rehabilitation

Please tick the appropriate boxes	Yes	No
Taking part in the study		
I have read and understood the study information dated 11/05/2021, or it has been read to me. I have been able to ask questions about the study and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.	0	0
I consent voluntarily to be a participant in this study and understand that I can refuse to answer questions and I can withdraw from the study at any time, without having to give a reason.	0	0
I have been informed of the criteria to be included in this study and I fulfil it as I do not have any pathology or any implanted device.	0	0
I understand that taking part in the study involves a questionnaire and participant's knees being photographed to measure knee angles while wearing sensors. Participant's name will not be recorded. Additionally, <u>no</u> personally identifiable characteristic of the participant will be shown in the photographs, only his or her knee.	0	0

Signatures

Name of participant

Signature

Date

I have accurately read out the information sheet to the potential participant and, to the best of my ability, ensured that the participant understands to what they are freely consenting.

Signature

Date

Study contact details for further information: Name: José López Hidalgo Telephone number: +31 645 339 815 Email: jlopezhidalgo@gmail.com

Questionnaires

C.1. Voluntarily study questionnaire

Virtual KneeHab questionnaire

This questionnaire is intended for participants of the study "Testing of a Game and Calibration Tool for Pre- and Post-Surgical Knee Rehabilitation" as a part of a master's thesis project. This survey aims to get a subjective assessment of the game from the participant's experience. You will answer questions about the user interface, calibration tool, game and progress report. These answers will help to measure the playability and entertainment of the game, the clarity of the user interface and the usefulness of the game and progress report.

*Required

1. Was the user interface intuitive for you? *

Mark only one oval.



2. Was the user interface during the game helpful? *

Mark only one oval.

	1	2	3	4	5	
Not at all		\bigcirc	\bigcirc			Completely

3. Do you have any other comments about the user interface?



4. Do you think that it is easy to connect and calibrate the sensors? *

Mark only one oval.

	1	2	3	4	5	
Not at all		\bigcirc	\bigcirc			Completely

5. Were the controls of the game clear to understand for you? *

Mark only one oval.

	1	2	3	4	5	
Not at all		\bigcirc	\bigcirc			Completely

6. Was it easy for you to get used to how the game is controlled? *

Not at all	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Completely
	1	2	3	4	5	
Mark only o	one ova	Ι.				

7. Do you have any other comments about the controls of the game?

8. Was the game enjoyable? *

Mark only one oval.



9. Was the game physically demanding? *

Mark only one oval.



10. Do you have any other comments about the game?

11. Do you think that the progress report would be helpful for a patient? *

Mark only one oval.

	1	2	3	4	5	
Not at all						Completely

12. Do you think the the progress report is clear? *

Mark only one oval.

	1	2	3	4	5	
Not at all						Completely

13. Do you have any other comments about the progress report?

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google Forms

C.2. Questionnaire for physiotherapists

Virtual KneeHab. Rehabilitation Game after Knee Surgery.

This questionnaire is aimed at those people who were interviewed at the beginning of this project. With the feedback from these interviews, a post-operative knee rehabilitation game was developed. It is called "Virtual KneeHab", which is controlled using motion sensors. The goal of this questionnaire is to collect the opinion of said interviewees about the final result of the game.

Video of the game showing the user interface of both the patient and the physiotherapist.



http://youtube.com/watch?v=ncg7f-

<u>a8eJo</u>

1. Do you think patients would practice more if they played this game? Why?



3. Do you think the progress report shown to the patient is enough? Or do you think, on the contrary, that it should contain more detailed information about rehabilitation?

4. Would you agree to see your patients less frequently, knowing that they use this game at home? Why?

5. Do you think the information displayed on the patient progress report is adequate? Why?

6. How would you use this information? As the only reference to the patient's progress? Or as extra help during a check-up appointment with the patient?

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.



C.3. Questionnaire for patients

Virtual KneeHab. Rehabilitation Game after Knee Surgery.

This questionnaire aims to collect the opinion of people who have undergone knee surgery and subsequent rehabilitation on a game developed for said rehabilitation. This game is controlled by moving the knee and ankle, thanks to motion sensors placed on the thigh, lower leg and foot.

Video showing how a patient would use this game during his rehabilitation.



/watch?v=UcNh4cEL1i8

http://youtube.com

1. Do you think you would practice more at home if you had a game like this?

Mark only one oval.



2. Would you be okay with having less frequent appointments with your physiotherapist if you could use this game at home?

Mark only one oval.



3. Do you think that using this game would increase your motivation during the rehabilitation?

Mark only one oval.

\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	No
\bigcirc	Maybe

4. Would you like the game to increase in difficulty as you progress?

Mark only one oval.

\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	No
\bigcirc	Maybe

5. Would you like to play more than one game?

Mark only one oval.

Yes, I would like to play different games.

No, one game is enough.

- It does not matter to me.
- 6. What do you think of the progress report that the game shows you? Does it contain enough information? Or would you prefer to see more detailed information about your progress?



This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

